
                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                     

                NOTICE OF MEETING OF THE WOODBURY COUNTY BOARD OF SUPERVISORS 

                                                                                     (JULY 22, 2025) (Week 30 of 2025) 

                                     
I                                        Live streaming at:                                                  Agenda and Minutes available at:                                                              

                https://www.youtube.com/user/woodburycountyiowa                     www.woodburycountyiowa.gov 

                                                                                                   
      
Daniel A. Bittinger II          Kent T. Carper             David L. Dietrich        Mark E. Nelson          Matthew A. Ung                                               
           389-4405                         570-7681                         870-9224                       540-1259                        490-7852                               
dbittinger@woodburycountyiowa.gov        kcarper@woodburycountyiowa.gov          ddietrich@woodburycountyiowa.gov    mnelson@woodburycountyiowa.gov      matthewung@woodburycountyiowa.gov            

 

You are hereby notified a meeting of the Woodbury County Board of Supervisors will be held July 22, 2025, 
at 4:30 p.m.  in the Basement of the Courthouse, 620 Douglas Street, Sioux City, Iowa, for the purpose of 
taking official action on the agenda items shown hereinafter and for such other business that may properly 
come before the Board.   
 
This is a formal meeting during which the Board may take official action on various items of business. 
Members of the public wishing to speak on an item must follow the participation rules adopted by the Board 
of Supervisors. 
 

1. Please silence cell phones and other devices while in the Boardroom. 
2. The Chair may recognize speakers on agenda items after initial discussion by the Board. 
3. Speakers will approach the microphone one at a time and give their name and address before their statement. 
4. Speakers will limit their remarks to three minutes on any one item and address their remarks to the Board.  
5. At the beginning of discussion on any item, the Chair may request statements in favor of an action be heard first 

followed by statements in opposition to the action.  The Chair may also request delegates provide statements on 
behalf of multiple speakers. 

6. Any concerns or questions which do not relate to a scheduled item on the agenda will be heard under the item 
“Citizen Concerns.” Please note the Board is legally prohibited from taking action on or engaging in deliberation 
on concerns not listed on the agenda, and in such cases the Chair will request further discussion take place 
after properly noticed. 

7. Public comment by electronic or telephonic means is prohibited except for a particular agenda item when 
approved by the Chair 24 hours before a meeting or by a majority of the board during a meeting for a 
subsequent meeting. 

 

AGENDA 
 

4:30 p.m.   Call Meeting to Order – Pledge of Allegiance to the Flag – Moment of Silence   

        
                   1.  Approval of the agenda                                                                                                Action                       
 

                Consent Agenda 

        Items 2 through 6 constitute a Consent Agenda of routine action items to be considered by one 

motion.  Items pass unanimously unless a separate vote is requested by a Board Member.   

                  

                   2.  Approval of the minutes of July 15, 2025, meeting 

 

                   3.  Approval of claims   

 

                   4.  Human Resources – Melissa Thomas 

                        Approval of Memorandum of Personnel Transactions 

 

                   5.  County Treasurer – Tina Bertrand 

                        Approval of property tax refund on parcel #884717408003 in the amount of $3007.00    

 

 

https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=7QQ0sePQEtI
https://www.youtube.com/user/woodburycountyiowa
http://www.woodburycountyiowa.gov/
mailto:dbittinger@woodburycountyiowa.
mailto:kcarper@woodburycountyiowa.gov
mailto:ddietrich@woodburycountyiowa.gov
mailto:mnelson@woodburycountyiowa.gov
mailto:matthewung@woodburycountyiowa.gov


 

                6.  Board Administration – Karen James 

                     Approval to lift tax suspension for T.S.                     

                                   

End of Consent Agenda 

 

                7.  Human Resources – Melissa Thomas 
                     Approve the purchase of new office furniture and carpet for the Human Resources           Action 
                     office 
 

                8.  Planning/Zoning – Dan Priestley 

4:40 p.m.      a.  Conduct first public hearing to amend the Zoning Ordinance to include nuclear           Action 

(Set time)           energy facilities, nuclear waste storage, and related uses as allowed or conditional 

                           uses in specific zoning districts, such as the General Industrial Zoning District, 

                           while addressing prohibitions, public notification requirements, and necessary 

                           updates to definitions and ordinance structure, and related changes 

                      b.  Approve the 1st Reading of the Zoning Ordinance Text Amendments                            Action 

 

                9.  Planning/Zoning – Dan Priestley 

4:45 p.m.      a.  Conduct first public hearing to amend the Zoning Ordinance to comply with Iowa        Action 

(Set time)           Senate File 592, signed into law on May 1, 2025, which mandates allowing at 

                           least one accessory dwelling unit on lots with single-family residences and 

                           prohibits certain restrictive regulations, necessitating updates to sections like the 

                           Land use Summary Table, Lot Requirements, and Number of Residential Structures 

                      b.  Approve the 1st reading of the Zoning Ordinance Text Amendments                              Action 

 

              10.  Williams & Company – Chad Reginer 

                     Discuss and receive the Woodbury County’s Certified Annual Financial Report                  Action 

                     for FY 2024 

 
              11.  County Treasurer – Tina Bertrand 
                     Information and discussion regarding ATV ordinance                                                   Information 
 
              12.  Juvenile Detention – Ryan Weber 
                      Approve contract with State of Nebraska to house youth in the juvenile                             Action 
                      detention center    
 
              13.  Reports on Committee Meetings                                                                                  Information                                                          
 

              14.  Citizen Concerns                                                                                                          Information 
 
              15.  Board Concerns                                                                                                           Information 
   
      

ADJOURNMENT 
 

Subject to Additions/Deletions 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 



 
CALENDAR OF EVENTS                                                                                                                                                                                                  

                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                         
WED., JUL 23       2:30 p.m.     Rolling Hills Community Services Region Governance Board Meeting 
 
MON., JUL 28       5:00 p.m.     Zoning Commission Meeting, Courthouse Basement Boardroom         

THU., JUL 24                       Western Iowa Community Improvement Regional Housing Trust Fund                                                                            

                                            Board of Directors, 6401 Gordon, Dr.  

 

MON., AUG 4        5:00 p.m.     Board of Adjustment meeting, Courthouse Basement Boardroom 

WED., AUG 6        4:45 p.m.     Veteran Affairs Meeting, Veteran Affairs Office, 1211 Tri-View Ave.   

WED., AUG 13     7:30 a.m.      SIMPCO Executive Finance Committee Meeting, 6401 Gordon Drive       

                             8:05 a.m.      Woodbury County Information Communication Commission, First Floor Boardroom 

                            12:00 p.m.     District Board of Health Meeting, 1014 Nebraska St.                      

THU., AUG 14    12:00 p.m.     SIMPCO Board of Directors, 6401 Gordon Drive. 

FRI., AUG 15      12:00 p.m.     Siouxland Human Investment Partnership Board Meeting, 607 – 4th Street.                                                                                               

                             4:00 p.m.     Conservation Board Meeting, Dorothy Pecaut Nature Center, Stone Park 

WED., AUG 20   12:00 p.m.     Siouxland Economic Development Corporation Meeting, 617 Pierce St., Ste. 202 

THU., AUG 21      4:30 p.m.     Community Action Agency of Siouxland Board Meeting, 2700 Leech Avenue   

MON., AUG 25     5:00 p.m.     Zoning Commission Meeting, Courthouse Basement Boardroom 

WED., AUG 27     2:30 p.m.     Rolling Hills Community Services Region Governance Board Meeting 

 

 

                             

 

 

                                             

 

                                        

 

 

 

 

Woodbury County is an Equal Opportunity Employer.  In compliance with the Americans with Disabilities Act, the County will consider reasonable 
accommodations for qualified individuals with disabilities and encourages prospective employees and incumbents to discuss potential accommodations with the 
Employer. 
 
Federal and state laws prohibit employment and/or public accommodation discrimination on the basis of age, color, creed, disability, gender identity, national 
origin, pregnancy, race, religion, sex, sexual orientation or veteran’s status. If you believe you have been discriminated against, please contact the Iowa Civil 
Rights Commission at 800-457-4416 or Iowa Department of Transportation’s civil rights coordinator. If you need accommodations because of a disability to 
access the Iowa Department of Transportation’s services, contact the agency’s affirmative action officer at 800-262-0003.     



 

 

JULY 15, 2025, TWENTY-NINTH MEETING OF THE WOODBURY COUNTY BOARD OF SUPERVISORS   
 
The Board of Supervisors met on Tuesday, July 15, 2025, at 4:30 p.m. Board members present were Carper, Ung, Nelson, 
and Dietrich, Bittinger II was absent. Staff members present were Karen James, Board Administrative Assistant, Ryan 
Ericson, Budget and Finance Director, Joshua Widman, Assistant County Attorney, and Michelle Skaff, Auditor/Clerk to the 
Board.   
 
The regular meeting was called to order with the Pledge of Allegiance to the Flag and a Moment of Silence. 
 
1. Motion by Ung second by Dietrich to approve the agenda for July 15, 2025. Carried 4-0. Copy filed. 
 

Motion by Dietrich second by Carper to approve the following items by consent: 
 
2. To approve minutes of the July 8, 2025 meeting. Copy filed. 
    
3. To approve the claims totaling $721,099.26. Copy filed. 
 
4. To approve the reclassification of Sam Briese, Assistant County Attorney, County Attorney’s Dept., effective 07-21-

2025, $89,679.00/year. Per AFSCME Attorney: Move from Step 1 to Step 2. Anniversary Date: 07/21/25. Copy filed. 
 
5a. To receive the County Auditor’s Quarterly report for the period of April 1, 2025 through June 30, 2025. Copy filed.  
 
5b.  To receive the County Recorder’s report of fees collected for the period of 04/01/2025 through 06/30/2025. Copy 

filed. 
 
6. To receive the Treasurer’s semiannual report for the period ending June 30, 2025. Copy filed. 
 
Carried 4-0. 
 
8. A public hearing was held at 4:35 p.m. for the sale of parcel #894726113008, 1001 Helen St. 
 
 Motion by Ung second by Dietrich to close the public hearing. Carried 4-0. 
 

Motion by Nelson second by Ung to approve and authorize the Chairperson to sign a Resolution for the sale of 
parcel #894726113008, 1001 Helen St., to RGC Properties LLC, Sioux City, for $8,000.00, plus recording fees. 
Carried 4-0. 
 

RESOLUTION OF THE BOARD OF SUPERVISORS 
OF WOODBURY COUNTY, IOWA 

RESOLUTION #13,929 
 

       BE IT RESOLVED by the Board of Supervisors of Woodbury County, Iowa, that the offer at public auction of: 
 

By         RGC Properties LLC___in the sum of  Eight Thousand Dollars & 00/100 ($8,000.00)--------------------------------
---------------------dollars. 

 
For the following described real estate, To Wit: 

  
Parcel #894726113008 
Lots Four (4), Five (5), and Six (6) in Block Twenty-Five (25), Booge and Taylor’s Addition to Sioux City, Iowa and 
that part of the north/south alley abutting Lots 4, 5, 6, Block 25, Booge and Taylor’s Addition, Sioux City, 
Woodbury County, Iowa and vacated obsolete Tenth Street, abutting Lot 6, Block 25, Booge and Taylor’s Addition 
to Sioux City, Woodbury County, Iowa 
(1001 Helen Street) 
 
Now and included in and forming a part of the City of Sioux City, Iowa, the same is hereby accepted: said 



July 15, 2025 Cont’d.                                                                                                                                                               Page 2 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Amount being a sum LESS than the amount of the general taxes, interests, costs and penalties against the said Real 
Estate. 
 
BE IT RESOLVED that payment is due by close of business on the day of passage of this resolution or this sale is null 
and void and this resolution shall be rescinded. 
 
BE IT RESOLVED that per Code of Iowa Section 569.8(3 & 4), a parcel the County holds by tax deed shall not be 
assessed or taxed until transferred and upon transfer of a parcel so acquired gives the purchaser free title as to 
previously levied or set taxes.  Therefore, the County Treasurer is requested to abate any taxes previously levied or 
set on this parcel(s). 
 
BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED that the Chairman of this Board be and he is hereby authorized to execute a Quit Claim 
Deed for the said premises to the said purchaser. 
 
SO DATED this 15th Day of July, 2025. 

 
WOODBURY COUNTY BOARD OF SUPERVISORS 
Copy filed. 
 

7. Motion by Nelson second by Carper to approve to award the bid to Barry Motor Company, for $60,980.00 to be 
paid from Gaming. Carried 4-0. Copy filed.  
 

9. Motion by Dietrich second by Nelson to approve the disposition of the 2 Single Axle Trucks, Ford tractor, Brush 
Chipper, Oliver Disc, and Garden Disc via sealed bids. Carried 4-0. Copy filed. 
 

10. Reports on committee meetings where heard. 
 
11. EMS Director Baier addressed the board regarding improvements at the Climbing Hill facility. 
 
 Christopher Prosch addressed the board regarding his State Senate District 1 candidacy.     
 
12. Board concerns were heard. 
 

The Board adjourned the regular meeting until July 22, 2025. 
 

Meeting sign in sheet. Copy filed. 
  









LIFTING TAXSUSPI.ON 

                               WOODBURY COUNTY, IOWA 
                                  BOARD ADMINISTRATION 

          MEMORANDUM 
 
 
 
 
TO:                   Board of Supervisors 
 
FROM:             Karen James, Administrative Assistant 
 
DATE:              July 17, 2025 
 
RE:                   Lifting of Tax Suspensions  
 
 
 
Please lift the tax suspension for T.S. as this person is deceased. 
 
 
 
 



WOODBURY COUNTY BOARD OF SUPERVISORS AGENDA ITEM(S) REQUEST FORM 

Date:    _________________     Weekly Agenda Date:     ______________  

ELECTED OFFICIAL / DEPARTMENT HEAD / CITIZEN:  ____________________________________ 

WORDING FOR AGENDA ITEM:    

ACTION REQUIRED: 

   Approve Resolution   ☐        Approve Motion   ☐ Approve Ordinance    ☐  

Public Hearing   ☐      Other:  Informational  ☐      Attachments   ☐ 

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY: 

BACKGROUND: 

FINANCIAL IMPACT:  

IF THERE IS A CONTRACT INVOLVED IN THE AGENDA ITEM, HAS THE CONTRACT BEEN SUBMITTED AT LEAST ONE WEEK 

PRIOR AND ANSWERED WITH A REVIEW BY THE COUNTY ATTORNEY’S OFFICE? 

Yes     ☐            No       ☐ 

RECOMMENDATION:    

ACTION REQUIRED / PROPOSED MOTION:  

Approved by Board of Supervisors April 5, 2016. 

07/17/2025 07/22/2025

Melissa Thomas HR Director 

✔

✔

Approve the purchase of new office furniture and carpet for the Human Resources office. 

The HR office is in need of updating. The carpet, file cabinets and pieced together cubicles have been here for 
decades. 

This request is a CIP request. The estimates in the background material include all cubicles, desks, file 
cabinets, and tables to be replaced with the same furnishings as the LEC offices. The carpet will be replaced 
with the same as the new recorder's office. 

Office Elements: $31,044.31 
MD's Carpet One $7,313.46

Approve the motion

Motion to approve the purchase of new office furniture and carpet for the Human Resources office. 

































































By signing this document, the customer agrees to the services and conditions outlined in this document.
If or when a down payment is made, that will take the place of the signature and the client will be responsible for all monies owed.

If there is an issue, Flooring MD's Carpet One has first option to fix any and all concerns.

Flooring MDs Carpet One
PO Box 204
North Sioux City, SD  57049 US
6057803567
flooringmds@gmail.com

Estimate

ADDRESS

Kenny
Woodbury County Courthouse
620 Douglas St.
Sioux City, IA  51101 USA

ESTIMATE # DATE EXPIRATION DATE

1555 07/10/2025 03/10/2025

P.O. NUMBER SALES REP
7th Floor HR Dept Linny

DATE ACTIVITY DESCRIPTION QTY RATE AMOUNT

Carpet Tile Impromptu - At First Glance
Material Only

1,008 4.12 4,152.96

Install Install Product Purchased - Carpet 
Tile

1,008 1.25 1,260.00

Adhesive Nexus Modular Adhesive 1 169.00 169.00

Trim Rubber Reducer 6 1.65 9.90

Furniture Move and reset furniture 1 300.00 300.00

Freight Shipping Charge 1 300.00 300.00

Covebase Covebase, adhesive, & install - 
TBD

240 2.59 621.60

Install 2 days / Night or weekend work 2 250.00 500.00

We offer interest free financing with no down payment!
Estimate pricing is good for 7 days.
Floor prep is not included in the estimate.
If carpet is being installed, the walls may need to be touched up after 
installation is complete. 
We require a 75% down payment before product is ordered.
There will be a late fee of 1.5% applied if not paid within 30 days.

SUBTOTAL 7,313.46

TAX 0.00
TOTAL $7,313.46

Accepted By Accepted Date



WOODBURY COUNTY BOARD OF SUPERVISORS AGENDA ITEM(S) REQUEST FORM 

Date:    _________________         Weekly Agenda Date:     ______________ 

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY: 

BACKGROUND: 

ELECTED OFFICIAL / DEPARTMENT HEAD / CITIZEN:       ____________________________________ 

WORDING FOR AGENDA ITEM:    

ACTION REQUIRED:

   Approve Resolution         Approve Motion   Approve Ordinance

Public Hearing                Other:  Informational      Attachments    

7/16/25 7/22/25 4:40

Dan Priestley

The Board of Supervisors will hold a public hearing at 4:40 PM to discuss proposed Zoning Ordinance Text Amendments related to
nuclear energy facilities, nuclear waste storage, and related uses as allowed or conditional uses in specific zoning districts, such as
the General Industrial Zoning District, while addressing prohibitions, public notification requirements, and necessary updates to
definitions and ordinance structure, and related changes.

Following the public hearing, the Board of Supervisors may:
(1) Defer consideration of the matter for further study; or
(2) Reject the proposed amendment; or
(3) Adopt the ordinance amending the text of this title.

The proposed ordinance changes aim to establish a permitting process for potential nuclear energy projects that may arise in the
future.

The focus of this debate is on creating a clear and predictable process for both the public and developers. This is not about
promoting a specific project, but rather about being prepared with a transparent framework in place.

With the renewed interest in nuclear energy nationwide, driven in part by the increasing demand for electricity to power emerging
technologies like data centers, it's essential that the county has a process to evaluate whether nuclear energy facilities or nuclear
waste storage can be located within the county's borders.

The proposed ordinance does not authorize any new nuclear plants or storage facilities. Instead, it ensures a clear process for
evaluating potential projects. If a project is proposed, it would need to go through the conditional use permit process to ensure it's
suitable for a specific location within the General Industrial (GI) Zoning District.

The key benefits of this ordinance change include:
• Establishing a clear and predictable process for evaluating potential nuclear energy projects
• Ensuring transparency and public input through the conditional use permit process
• Aligning with state and federal regulations
• Supporting the county's comprehensive plan goal of promoting energy diversification and technological advances

a. Conduct first public hearing to amend the Zoning Ordinance to include nuclear energy facilities, nuclear waste storage, and
related uses as allowed or conditional uses in specific zoning districts, such as the General Industrial Zoning District, while
addressing prohibitions, public notification requirements, and necessary updates to definitions and ordinance structure, and
related changes. b. Approve the 1st Reading of the Zoning Ordinance Text Amendments.

✔

✔

✔

✔



FINANCIAL IMPACT:   

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

IF THERE IS A CONTRACT INVOLVED IN THE AGENDA ITEM, HAS THE CONTRACT BEEN SUBMITTED AT LEAST ONE WEEK 
PRIOR AND ANSWERED WITH A REVIEW BY THE COUNTY ATTORNEY’S OFFICE? 

Yes     ☐            No       ☐ 

RECOMMENDATION:    

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

ACTION REQUIRED / PROPOSED MOTION:   
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Approved by Board of Supervisors April 5, 2016.  

FURTHER BACKGROUND:

Zoning Commission's Recommendation
• Unanimous recommendation on June 23, 2025, to adopt proposed amendments
• Emphasizes clarity in ordinance language, expanded notification, and alignment with state and federal regulations

Introduction
• Updates Woodbury County Zoning Ordinance to address nuclear energy facilities and nuclear waste storage
• Responds to Board of Supervisors' July 2, 2024 directive to explore nuclear energy as a potential energy source
• No specific nuclear projects proposed; ensures regulatory clarity for future applications

Key Provisions
• Defines nuclear energy facilities and nuclear waste storage
• Designates nuclear energy facilities and nuclear waste storage as conditional uses in the General Industrial (GI) Zoning District
• Expands public hearing notification from 500 feet to 10 miles for nuclear-related conditional use permits

Alignment with Comprehensive Plan
• Supports Goal IU3: promoting energy diversification and technological advances
• Balances economic growth with environmental and safety considerations

Public Engagement
• Public input gathered from August 2024 to June 2025 through multiple Zoning Commission hearings
• Mixed sentiments: support from local officials and labor groups, opposition from residents citing waste risks and safety concerns (minimal attendance)
• 10-mile notification radius ensures broad community awareness and input for future proposals

Conditional Use Permit Process
• Authority: Zoning Commission reviews and the Board of Adjustment decides on conditional use permit applications
• Purpose: Evaluates unique impacts of nuclear energy and waste storage facilities to ensure suitability for specific sites
• Application: Filed by property owners or those with contractual interest
• Review Process: Planning and Zoning Commission reviews and advises (public meeting/agenda item); Board of Adjustment holds public hearing and decides within 35 days

Regulatory Oversight
• Federal agencies (Nuclear Regulatory Commission) oversee safety, licensing, and environmental standards
• County's role limited to zoning and conditional use permitting

Economic and Environmental Considerations
• Benefits: supports clean energy goals, potential job creation, and energy demands
• Concerns addressed: restricts facilities to industrial zones, 10-mile notification enhances transparency

Community Impact
• Ensures no nuclear facilities or waste storage in agricultural or residential zones
• 10-mile notification radius addresses concerns about emergency preparedness and community awareness
• Encourages dialogue on balancing economic development with safety and environmental stewardship.

Next Steps
• Conduct public hearings to gather additional community input
• Board of Supervisors may adjust language during hearings
• Final adoption will establish a clear framework for potential nuclear energy developments

Open and close the public hearing. (Set Time: 4:40 PM)

Conduct and approve the first reading of the Zoning Ordinance Text Amendments.

The 2nd and 3rd public hearings and readings of the ordinance have been scheduled for Tuesday, 7/29/25 at
4:40 PM, and Tuesday, 8/5/25 at 4:40 PM, respectively.

a. Conduct first public hearing to amend the Zoning Ordinance to include nuclear energy facilities, nuclear waste storage, and
related uses as allowed or conditional uses in specific zoning districts, such as the General Industrial Zoning District, while
addressing prohibitions, public notification requirements, and necessary updates to definitions and ordinance structure, and
related changes.

b. Approve the 1st Reading of the Zoning Ordinance Text Amendments.



 

WOODBURY COUNTY PLANNING & ZONING 
620 Douglas Street, Sixth Floor, Sioux City, Iowa 51101 

712.279.6609 – 712.279.6530 (Fax) 

Daniel J. Priestley, MPA – Zoning Coordinator                                         Dawn Norton – Senior Clerk 

dpriestley@woodburycountyiowa.gov dnorton@woodburycountyiowa.gov 
 

 

REPORT – REVISED 6-25-25 

Consideration of Nuclear Energy Facilities and Nuclear Waste Storage 

 

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY: 
On June 23, 2025, the Zoning Commission unanimously recommended amending the Woodbury County 
Zoning Ordinance to explicitly include nuclear energy facilities and nuclear waste storage as conditional uses in 
the General Industrial (GI) Zoning District. The proposed amendment defines these terms, adds them to the 
Land Use Summary Table, and establishes a 10-mile notification radius for conditional use permits, enhancing 
public engagement and safety considerations.  
 
Zoning Ordinance Text Amendment Summary: 
 

• For nuclear energy facilities and nuclear waste storage facilities, notice must be mailed to all owners of 
real property within 10 miles of the subject property. 
 

• Adding "nuclear energy facilities" and "nuclear waste storage" as conditional uses in the General 
Industrial (GI) zoning district, and prohibiting them in all other zoning districts. 
 

• Defining "nuclear energy facility" and "nuclear waste storage" in the ordinance, with the definitions 
including compliance with federal and state regulatory requirements. 
 

• The proposal also makes some technical changes, such as renumbering and reorganizing definitions, and 
adding a new page to the ordinance. 

 
 

 

 













 
 



 
 
 
 
 
 

STAFF COMMENT ON PROPOSED NUCLEAR RELATED ZONING ORDINANCE TEXT AMENDMENTS 

• Staff recommends removal of the reference in the draft language to the Utility-Scale Solar 
Energy System (US-SES) notification distance.  This is a current/existing regulation in Section 
5.08. This was originally intended to be a housekeeping measure but should be addressed at a 
future time as the scope of the debate does not fit within the parameters of the nuclear 
related discussion. 

On  page 8: To replace Section 2.02.1 B(1)(e) with the following: 

 

For a Board of Adjustment hearing on a conditional use or special exception, notice shall be mailed to all owners of real 

property located within 500 feet of the subject property, except that in the case of a conditional use to allow an airport, a 

sanitary landfill, a nuclear energy facility, a nuclear waste storage facility, construction of a telecommunication tower as 

provided in subsection 5.05, or a Utility-Scale Solar Energy System (US-SES) as provided in subsection 5.08, notices shall 
be mailed to all owners of real property located within one mile of the subject property for an airport, sanitary landfill, 

telecommunication tower, or Utility-Scale Solar Energy System (US-SES), and within ten miles of the subject property for 

a nuclear energy facility or nuclear waste storage facility. 
 

Replace with: 

On page 8: To replace Section 2.02.1 B(1)(e) with the following: 
 

For a Board of Adjustment hearing on a conditional use or special exception, notice shall be mailed to all owners of real 
property located within 500 feet of the subject property, except that in the case of a conditional use to allow an airport, a 

sanitary landfill, a nuclear energy facility, a nuclear waste storage facility, or construction of a telecommunication tower as 

provided in subsection 5.06-3, notices shall be mailed to all owners of real property located within one mile of the subject 
property for an airport, sanitary landfill, telecommunication tower, and within ten miles of the subject property for a 

nuclear energy facility or nuclear waste storage facility. 
 

• Staff recommends adding the following revised language that makes it clear that the 
conditional use permit is only allowed for consideration within the GI – General Industrial 
Zoning District.   

On page 39: To add the following line-item use language within zoning ordinance Section 3.03.4 Land Use Summary Table of Allowed Uses in 

each Zoning District under the “Utilities” category: 

 
“Nuclear energy facilities”.  With placement of the letter “C” (Conditional use) within the GI (General Industrial) Zoning District 

column and with the placement of “--” (Prohibited use) within the AP (Agricultural Preservation) Zoning District, AE (Agricultural 

Estates) Zoning District, NR (Non-Agricultural Residential) Zoning District, SR (Suburban Residential) Zoning District, GC (General 
Commercial) Zoning District, HC (Highway Commercial) Zoning District, and LI (Limited Industrial) Zoning District columns on the 

table related to this line-item use. 

 
“Nuclear waste storage”.  With placement of the letter “C” (Conditional use) within the GI (General Industrial) Zoning Districts 

Column and with the placement of “--” (Prohibited use) within the AP (Agricultural Preservation) Zoning District, AE (Agricultural 

Estates) Zoning District, NR (Non-Agricultural Residential) Zoning District, SR (Suburban Residential) Zoning District, GC (General 
Commercial) Zoning District, HC (Highway Commercial) Zoning District, and LI (Limited Industrial) Zoning District columns on the 

table related to this line-item use on the table related to this line-item use. 

 
 

THE SUBSEQUENT PAGES INCLUDE A REVISED DRAFT FOR CONSIDERATION 

TO ADDRESS THESE POINTS. 



 

 

 

 

 

 

ORDINANCE NO. _____ 

 

WOODBURY COUNTY, IOWA 

 

 

AN ORDINANCE AMENDING THE TEXT OF THE WOODBURY COUNTY ZONING 

ORDINANCE TO INCLUDE THE USES OF NUCLEAR ENERGY FACILITIES AND 

NUCLEAR WASTE STORAGE AS ENERGY AND NUCLEAR WASTE STORAGE 

OPTIONS IN UNINCORPORATED WOODBURY COUNTY AND TO ALLOW FOR 

THE CONSIDERATION OF SUCH FACILITIES IN GENERAL INDUSTRIAL ZONING 

AREAS AS CONDITIONAL USES. 

WHEREAS, the Woodbury County Comprehensive Plan 2040, adopted on May 7, 2024, in 

Chapter 4 (Public Infrastructure and Utilities), encourages “supporting the development of 

diverse energy sources and planning ahead for regulations around these facilities will put the 

county in a position to embrace those that are appealing to residents and beneficial to the 

economy” on pages 71-72; and 

WHEREAS, the Woodbury County Zoning Ordinance, in Section 3.03.4 (Land Use Summary 

Table of Allowed Uses), currently classifies "Electrical Energy Generation (not including wind)" 

as a conditional use within the General Industrial (GI) Zoning District, demonstrating an existing 

framework for accommodating advanced energy production facilities in areas designated for 

industrial activity; and 

WHEREAS, the Zoning Ordinance also classifies "Chemical and gas bulk storage" as a 

conditional use in the GI Zoning District under Section 3.03.4, providing a precedent for the safe 

management and storage of potentially hazardous materials, which supports the inclusion of 

nuclear waste storage as a compatible conditional use within the same zoning classification; and 

WHEREAS, the General Industrial (GI) Zoning District, as described in Section 3.01 of the 

Zoning Ordinance, is intended to provide for the orderly development of heavy commercial, 

warehousing, and limited industrial uses, with appropriate sites featuring excellent infrastructure 

and transportation access, making it a suitable location for the establishment of nuclear energy 

facilities and nuclear waste storage; and 

WHEREAS, the addition of definitions for "Nuclear energy facilities" and "Nuclear waste 

storage" in Article 6, Section 6.02 of the Zoning Ordinance, ensures clarity and consistency in 

the application of the ordinance, specifying that such facilities must comply with federal and 

state regulations, including those of the Nuclear Regulatory Commission (NRC), thereby 

reinforcing the County’s commitment to safety and regulatory oversight; and 



 

 

WHEREAS, the Comprehensive Plan 2040, in Chapter 6 (Land Use and Natural Resources), 

emphasizes the importance of balancing economic development with environmental stewardship, 

and the inclusion of nuclear energy facilities and nuclear waste storage as conditional uses in the 

GI Zoning District supports this balance by leveraging existing industrial zones to minimize 

impacts on agricultural and residential areas; and 

WHEREAS, the conditional use process outlined in Section 2.02.9 of the Zoning Ordinance 

provides a mechanism for the Woodbury County Zoning Commission to recommend and for the 

Woodbury County Board of Adjustment to evaluate and impose specific conditions on nuclear 

energy facilities and nuclear waste storage, ensuring compatibility with surrounding land uses 

and adherence to the Comprehensive Plan’s vision for sustainable growth; and 

WHEREAS, the exploration of nuclear energy as an alternative energy source responds to the 

County’s proactive approach to energy planning, as evidenced by the Board of Supervisors’ 

approval on July 2, 2024, to investigate zoning for nuclear power; and 

WHEREAS, the proposed ordinance amendment enhances Woodbury County’s ability to attract 

economic development opportunities in the energy sector, potentially replacing or supplementing 

existing energy infrastructure while maintaining the County’s rural character and agricultural 

focus as prioritized in the Comprehensive Plan 2040; 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED, that the Woodbury County Board of Supervisors 

hereby supports the passage of this Zoning Ordinance Text Amendment to include nuclear 

energy facilities and nuclear waste storage as conditional uses in the General Industrial Zoning 

District, consistent with the goals and policies of the Woodbury County Comprehensive Plan 

2040 and the regulatory framework of the Woodbury County Zoning Ordinance. 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT ENACTED BY THE BOARD OF SUPERVISORS OF 

WOODBURY COUNTY, IOWA THAT THE BELOW ZONING ORDINANCE LANGUAGE 

AMENDMENTS BE MADE: 

 

Amendments: 

 

On page 8: To repeal Section 2.02.1 B(1)(e) as follows: 

 

For a Board of Adjustment hearing on a conditional use or special exception, notice shall 

be mailed to all owners of real property located within 500 feet of the subject property, 

except that in the case of a conditional use to allow an airport or a sanitary landfill, or 

construction of a telecommunication tower as provided in subsection 5.06-3, notices shall 

be mailed to all owners of real property located within one mile of the subject property. 

 

On page 8: To replace Section 2.02.1 B(1)(e) with the following: 

 

For a Board of Adjustment hearing on a conditional use or special exception, notice shall 

be mailed to all owners of real property located within 500 feet of the subject property, 

except that in the case of a conditional use to allow an airport, a sanitary landfill, a 



 

 

nuclear energy facility, a nuclear waste storage facility, or construction of a 

telecommunication tower as provided in subsection 5.06-3, notices shall be mailed to all 

owners of real property located within one mile of the subject property for an airport, 

sanitary landfill, telecommunication tower, and within ten miles of the subject property 

for a nuclear energy facility or nuclear waste storage facility. 

 

On page 39: To add the following line-item use language within zoning ordinance Section 3.03.4 

Land Use Summary Table of Allowed Uses in each Zoning District under the “Utilities” category: 

 

“Nuclear energy facilities”.  With placement of the letter “C” (Conditional use) within the 

GI (General Industrial) Zoning District column and with the placement of “--” 

(Prohibited use) within the AP (Agricultural Preservation) Zoning District, AE 

(Agricultural Estates) Zoning District, NR (Non-Agricultural Residential) Zoning 

District, SR (Suburban Residential) Zoning District, GC (General Commercial) Zoning 

District, HC (Highway Commercial) Zoning District, and LI (Limited Industrial) Zoning 

District columns on the table related to this line-item use. 

 

“Nuclear waste storage”.  With placement of the letter “C” (Conditional use) within the 

GI (General Industrial) Zoning Districts Column and with the placement of “--” 

(Prohibited use) within the AP (Agricultural Preservation) Zoning District, AE 

(Agricultural Estates) Zoning District, NR (Non-Agricultural Residential) Zoning 

District, SR (Suburban Residential) Zoning District, GC (General Commercial) Zoning 

District, HC (Highway Commercial) Zoning District, and LI (Limited Industrial) Zoning 

District columns on the table related to this line-item use on the table related to this line-

item use. 

 

On page 104: To add the following definition, “Nuclear energy facility” as definition 112 to 

Article 6. Definitions. Section 6.02: Definitions as “112. Nuclear energy facility” means any 

facility designed or used for the generation of electricity or power through nuclear fission or 

fusion, including nuclear reactors and associated structures, systems, or components necessary 

for the production of atomic energy, as well as the handling, processing, or temporary storage of 

nuclear materials or byproduct materials, all in compliance with federal and state regulatory 

requirements as administered by the Nuclear Regulatory Commission (NRC) or its duly 

authorized representatives. 

 

On page 105: To add the following definition, “Nuclear waste storage” as definition 113 to 

Article 6. Definitions. Section 6.02: Definitions as “113. Nuclear waste storage” means any 

facility, structure, or area designated and engineered for the safe containment, isolation, or 

disposal of byproduct material, special nuclear material, or other radioactive materials generated 

from nuclear energy facilities, including temporary or permanent storage solutions, provided 

such storage complies with federal regulations under 10 CFR Part 50 and related parts, and is 

subject to oversight by the Nuclear Regulatory Commission (NRC) to protect public health, 

safety, and the common defense and security. 

 



 

 

Following the addition of the new definitions as described above: to renumber each of the 

subsequent definitions beginning with 114 through 193 and to note the shift of the subsequent 

definitions to new page locations between pages 104 to 110 and to add page 110. 
 
Dated this ____ day of _________, 2025. 
 

THE WOODBURY COUNTY, IOWA BOARD OF SUPERVISORS 

 

________________________   

Daniel Bittinger II, Chairman    

      

________________________   

Mark Nelson, Vice-Chairman   

      

________________________   

Kent Carper   

  

Attest:        ________________________  

       David Dietrich 

      

________________________________  ________________________ 

Michelle K. Skaff, Woodbury County Auditor Matthew Ung 

 
Adoption Timeline: 

Date of Public Hearing and First Reading____________  

Date of Public Hearing and Second Reading____________ 

Date of Public Hearing and Third Reading____________ 

Date of Adoption_____________ 

Published/Effective Date____________ 

 
 
 
 

 



ZONING COMMISSION AUDIO AND MINUTES 

August 26, 2024 
• Audio: https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=ggkPBerPnWE 

• Minutes: https://www.woodburycountyiowa.gov/files/committees/meetings/2024-08-

26_minutes_zoning_commission_5289.pdf 

• Backup Materials: https://www.woodburycountyiowa.gov/files/committees/meetings/2024-08-

26_packet_zoning_commission_11760.pdf 

 

September 23, 2024  
• Audio: https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=DXqp6jPtBtI 

• Minutes: https://www.woodburycountyiowa.gov/files/committees/meetings/2024-09-

23_minutes_zoning_commission_3148.pdf 

• Backup Materials: https://www.woodburycountyiowa.gov/files/committees/meetings/2024-09-

23_packet_zoning_commission_6641.pdf 

 

November 25, 2024 
• Audio: https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=PRQLWaCt2P0 

• Minutes: https://www.woodburycountyiowa.gov/files/committees/meetings/2025-01-

27_minutes_zoning_commission_1508.pdf 

• Backup Materials: https://www.woodburycountyiowa.gov/files/committees/meetings/2024-11-

25_packet_zoning_commission_89348.pdf 

 

January 27, 2025 
• Audio: https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=PRQLWaCt2P0 

• Minutes: https://www.woodburycountyiowa.gov/files/committees/meetings/2025-01-

27_minutes_zoning_commission_1508.pdf 

• Backup Materials: https://www.woodburycountyiowa.gov/files/committees/meetings/2025-01-

27_packet_zoning_commission_46647.pdf 

 

February 24, 2025 
• Audio: https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=RkHFoYupSFY 

• Minutes: https://www.woodburycountyiowa.gov/files/committees/meetings/2025-02-

24_minutes_zoning_commission_4958.pdf 

• Backup Materials: https://www.woodburycountyiowa.gov/files/committees/meetings/2025-02-

24_packet_zoning_commission_4361.pdf 

 

March 24, 2025 
• Audio: https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=nEaUL_YC-xo 

• Minutes: https://www.woodburycountyiowa.gov/files/committees/meetings/2025-03-

24_minutes_zoning_commission_3044.pdf 

• Backup Materials: https://www.woodburycountyiowa.gov/files/committees/meetings/2025-03-

24_packet_zoning_commission_5490.pdf 

 

May 28, 2025 
• Audio: https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=HoUh4IVeBoI 

• Minutes: https://www.woodburycountyiowa.gov/files/committees/meetings/2025-05-

28_minutes_zoning_commission_2619.pdf 

• Backup Materials: https://www.woodburycountyiowa.gov/files/committees/meetings/2025-05-

28_packet_zoning_commission_6529.pdf 

 

June 23, 2025 

• Audio: https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=a5z4GlaHc2o 

• Draft minutes provided below. 

• Backup Materials: https://www.woodburycountyiowa.gov/files/committees/meetings/2025-06-

23_packet_zoning_commission_3630.pdf 

 

 

 

























 
 



BACKGROUND AND ANALYSIS ( LAST UPDATED) – 3/20/25 

Section 3.03.4 of the Woodbury County Zoning Ordinance contains the "Land Use Summary Table of Allowed Uses in Each 

Zoning District," which categorizes permitted land uses across zoning districts. Under the current table: 

• Utilities Category: "Electrical energy generation (not incl. wind)" is listed as a conditional use ("C") in the General 

Industrial (GI) Zoning District but prohibited ("--") in all other districts. 

• Warehousing and Freight Handling Category: "Chemical and gas bulk storage" is a conditional use ("C") in the GI 

Zoning District, permitted in the Limited Industrial (LI) Zoning District, and prohibited elsewhere. 

Staff initially interpreted these categories under Section 3.03.4 of the Woodbury County Zoning Ordinance as encompassing "nuclear 

energy facilities" and "nuclear waste storage" due to operational and regulatory similarities: 

1. Nuclear Energy Facilities vs. Electrical Energy Generation: 

o Both involve large-scale industrial processes for energy production. 

o They require significant infrastructure (e.g., reactors, turbines, transmission systems), stringent safety protocols, and 

compliance with environmental regulations. 

o Nuclear facilities produce electricity via controlled reactions, aligning with the broader intent of energy generation 

in industrial zones. 

2. Nuclear Waste Storage vs. Chemical and Gas Bulk Storage: 

o Both manage hazardous materials requiring specialized containment and safety measures. 

o They are subject to rigorous regulatory oversight and are ideally located in industrial zones to minimize risks to 

residential areas. 

However, this administrative interpretation lacks explicit clarity in the ordinance, prompting further review. 

County Attorney’s Office Review (5-21-25 – Update) 

The Woodbury County Attorney’s Office, via Assistant County Attorney Joshua Widman, advised against relying solely on 

administrative interpretation due to potential legal vulnerabilities: 

• Zoning ordinances define permissible land uses. Courts may not uphold an administrator’s interpretation that "electrical 

energy generation" includes nuclear facilities or that "chemical and gas bulk storage" covers nuclear waste if these uses are 

not explicitly listed. This ambiguity could lead to litigation, delaying or halting projects. 

• The Land Use Summary Table is described as "comprehensive." Since nuclear uses existed when the ordinance was drafted, 

their absence might be interpreted as intentional exclusion rather than an oversight, weakening the case for inclusion via 

interpretation. 

• Section 2.02.1 B(1)(e) mandates a 500-foot notification radius for conditional use permits (CUPs), with exceptions (e.g., 

airports, landfills) requiring 1,000 feet. Nuclear projects, given their scale and public sensitivity, may warrant a larger radius, 

necessitating an amendment. 

Zoning Staff take-away: Amending the ordinance to explicitly list "Nuclear Energy Facilities" and "Nuclear Waste Storage" as 

conditional uses in the GI Zoning District provides clarity and ensures alignment with the ordinance’s intent. Below are copies of 

comments received from Joshua Widman, Assistant County Attorney. 



 



 



Compatibility with the General Industrial (GI) Zoning District 

The GI Zoning District is designed for heavy industrial activities, including manufacturing, processing, and hazardous material 

storage. Adding nuclear-related uses as conditional uses aligns with its purpose: 

• Infrastructure Suitability: The GI district offers large parcels, transportation access, and utility availability necessary for 

energy production and waste management. 

• Buffer Zones: Its separation from residential areas mitigates risks associated with nuclear operations. 

• Regulatory Oversight: Nuclear facilities and waste storage are governed by federal (e.g., Nuclear Regulatory Commission, 

10 CFR Part 50) and state regulations 

Proposed Amendments to the Zoning Ordinance 

To address the identified issues, the following amendments could be considered: 

1. Amend Notification Requirements (Section 2.02.1 B(1)(e), Page 8) 

• Current Text: 

"For a Board of Adjustment hearing on a conditional use or special exception, notice shall be mailed to all owners of real 

property located within 500 feet of the subject property, except that in the case of a conditional use to allow an airport or a 

sanitary landfill, or construction of a telecommunication tower as provided in subsection 5.06-3, notices shall be mailed to all 

owners of real property located within one mile of the subject property." 

• Proposed Repeal and Replacement: 

"For a Board of Adjustment hearing on a conditional use or special exception, notice shall be mailed to all owners of real 

property located within 500 feet of the subject property, except that in the case of a conditional use to allow an airport, a 

sanitary landfill, a nuclear energy facility, a nuclear waste storage facility, or construction of a telecommunication tower as 

provided in subsection 5.05, notices shall be mailed to all owners of real property located within one mile of the subject 

property for an airport, sanitary landfill, or telecommunication tower, and within ten miles of the subject property for a 

nuclear energy facility or nuclear waste storage facility." 

• Rationale: A ten-mile notification radius for nuclear uses reflects their unique scale, potential impact, and public interest, 

ensuring broader stakeholder engagement and transparency beyond the standard 500 feet or the 1,000 feet used for other 

significant uses.  Also, as a point of housekeeping, it is recommended to change the referenced section regarding 

telecommunication towers from 5.06-3 to 5.05 to reflect the correct reference. 

2. Update the Land Use Summary Table (Section 3.03.4, Page 39) 

• Addition under "Utilities" Category: 

o "Nuclear energy facilities" – Place a "C" in the GI Zoning District column. 

o "Nuclear waste storage" – Place a "C" in the GI Zoning District column. 

• Updated Table Snapshot: 

Utility Type GI Status Notes 

Existing: Electrical energy generation (not incl. 

wind) 
C Conditional use, energy production 

Existing: Solar Energy Systems, Utility Scale C Conditional use, renewable energy 

Existing: Chemical and gas bulk storage C Conditional use, hazardous materials 

Proposed: Nuclear Energy Facilities C 
Amendment addition, nuclear energy 

generation 

Proposed: Nuclear Waste Storage C 
Amendment addition, nuclear waste 

management 

• Rationale: Explicitly listing these uses clarifies their status as conditional in the GI district (and removing the reliance on an 

administrative interpretation), aligning with similar energy and hazardous material activities while subjecting them to the 

CUP process. 

3. Add Definitions (Article 6, Section 6.02, Pages 104-105) 

• New Definition 112 (Page 104): 

"Nuclear energy facility means any facility designed or used for the generation of electricity or power through nuclear fission 



or fusion, including nuclear reactors and associated structures, systems, or components necessary for the production of 

atomic energy, as well as the handling, processing, or temporary storage of nuclear materials or byproduct materials, all in 

compliance with federal and state regulatory requirements as administered by the Nuclear Regulatory Commission (NRC) or 

its duly authorized representatives." 

• New Definition 113 (Page 105): 

"Nuclear waste storage means any facility, structure, or area designated and engineered for the safe containment, isolation, or 

disposal of byproduct material, special nuclear material, or other radioactive materials generated from nuclear energy 

facilities, including temporary or permanent storage solutions, provided such storage complies with federal regulations under 

10 CFR Part 50 and related parts, and is subject to oversight by the Nuclear Regulatory Commission (NRC) to protect public 

health, safety, and the common defense and security." 

• Subsequent Adjustments: Renumber existing definitions 112–193 as 114–195 and adjust page locations (pages 104–110, 

adding page 110 as needed). 

• Rationale: Precise definitions ensure legal and operational clarity, tying these uses to federal oversight and distinguishing 

them from other energy or storage activities. 

Alignment with Comprehensive Plan 

The amendments comport with the Woodbury County Comprehensive Plan (Chapter 4, Page 81): 

• Goal IU3: "Support technological advances." 

• Objective: "Work with energy providers to diversify sources." 

• Timeframe: 0-5, 5-10, 10-20 years. (Page 155-156) 

• Lead Partners: Board of Supervisors, utility companies. (Page 155-156) 

• Cost: Moderate ($$).(Page 155-156) 

Nuclear energy represents a technological advancement in energy diversification, and the GI district’s industrial designation 

aligns with the plan’s intent to separate heavy industrial uses from residential and agricultural areas. 

• Source: 

https://www.woodburycountyiowa.gov/files/community_economic_development/woodbury_county_comprehensive_plan_2

040_89417.pdf 

Moving Forward: Public and Regulatory Considerations 

As nuclear technology evolves (e.g., modular reactors, nuclear waste storage, etc.), Woodbury County has an opportunity to clarify its 

zoning policy toward “electrical energy generation” and “chemical and gas bulk storage.” Key questions for stakeholders include: 

1. Do citizens view nuclear energy including its waste storage as a viable future option? 

2. Are specific areas within the GI district suitable for nuclear facilities? 

Public input, alongside industry feedback, would guide any future conditional use permit projects. Any nuclear project would require: 

• County Process: A conditional use permit reviewed by the Zoning Commission and Board of Adjustment. 

• External Oversight: Compliance with Nuclear Regulatory Commission (NRC) and state regulations, ensuring safety and 

environmental standards are met. 

By amending the ordinance, the county could reduce legal uncertainty by removing the interpretation and align with its industrial 

zoning framework. 

Conclusion 

Amending the Woodbury County Zoning Ordinance to explicitly include "Nuclear Energy Facilities" and "Nuclear Waste Storage" as 

conditional uses in the GI Zoning District, with updated definitions and a ten-mile notification radius, provides clarity, reduces legal 

concerns, and supports long-term planning. This step would remove the administrative interpretation and bring the unique case before 

the Zoning Commission and Board of Adjustment under a defined framework to evaluate the criteria of a conditional use permit 

application for a nuclear energy facility and/or a nuclear waste storage site. 
 

 

 

 

 



NUCLEAR REGULATORY COMMISSION COMMENTS: 

 
 

 



 

 



 
 



DEFINITIONS AND TERMINOLOGY OF INTEREST 

Nuclear energy facility means any facility designed or used for the generation of electricity or power through nuclear fission or 
fusion, including nuclear reactors and associated structures, systems, or components necessary for the production of atomic energy, as 
well as the handling, processing, or temporary storage of nuclear materials or byproduct materials, all in compliance with federal and 
state regulatory requirements as administered by the Nuclear Regulatory Commission (NRC) or its duly authorized representatives. 
 

Explanation of Definition: 
This definition incorporates concepts from multiple NRC regulations, particularly those in 10 CFR Part 50, which governs 
the domestic licensing of production and utilization facilities. The NRC uses terms like "production facility" and "utilization 
facility" to describe facilities involved in nuclear energy production, and these terms are defined in 10 CFR § 50.2. Here’s 
how the definition aligns with specific regulatory sources: 
 

1. "Facility designed or used for the generation of electricity or power through nuclear fission or fusion": 
o This aligns with the definition of a "utilization facility" in 10 CFR § 50.2, which states: 

"Utilization facility means any nuclear reactor other than one designed or used primarily for the 
formation of plutonium or U-233; or An accelerator-driven subcritical operating assembly used for the 
irradiation of materials containing special nuclear material and described in the application assigned 
docket number 50-608." 

▪ Nuclear reactors for electricity generation (typically fission-based) are the primary focus of 
Part 50, as it regulates commercial nuclear power plants. Fusion is not currently regulated 
under Part 50, as it is not yet commercially viable, but the inclusion here may reflect a broad 
interpretation. 

o Citation: 10 CFR § 50.2, available at: 
https://www.ecfr.gov/current/title-10/chapter-I/part-50/section-50.2 
 

2. "Including nuclear reactors and associated structures, systems, or components necessary for the 
production of atomic energy": 

o The term "structures, systems, or components" (SSCs) is a key concept in NRC regulations, 
particularly in safety-related contexts. While not explicitly defined as part of a "nuclear energy facility" 
in one place, 10 CFR § 50.2 defines "safety-related structures, systems, and components" as those 
relied upon to ensure reactor safety, which implies their inclusion in the facility’s scope. 

o The phrase "production of atomic energy" echoes the Atomic Energy Act of 1954 (AEA), which 
underpins NRC authority (see 42 U.S.C. § 2014), defining "atomic energy" as energy released from 
fission or fusion. 

o Citation: 10 CFR § 50.2 (see URL above); Atomic Energy Act, Section 11, available at: 
https://www.nrc.gov/about-nrc/governing-laws.html (via NUREG-0980). 
 

3. "Handling, processing, or temporary storage of nuclear materials or byproduct materials": 
o This broadens the scope beyond power generation to include activities regulated under 10 CFR Part 50 

and related parts (e.g., Part 30 for byproduct material). 10 CFR § 50.2 defines "byproduct material" 
and "special nuclear material," and licensing under Part 50 includes provisions for handling and 
temporary storage (e.g., spent fuel pools at reactor sites). 

o Citation: 10 CFR § 50.2 (see URL above). 
 

4. "In compliance with federal and state regulatory requirements as administered by the NRC": 
o This reflects the NRC’s authority under the AEA and Energy Reorganization Act of 1974, delegated 

through 10 CFR Part 50, which sets licensing and operational requirements for nuclear facilities. 
Agreement States (under AEA Section 274) may regulate certain materials, but Part 50 facilities are 
under NRC jurisdiction unless specified otherwise. 

o Citation: 10 CFR Part 50, available at: 
https://www.ecfr.gov/current/title-10/chapter-I/part-50 
 

Conclusion: 
The definition is a composite derived from 10 CFR § 50.2 definitions (e.g., "utilization facility," "byproduct material") and 
the broader regulatory purpose of Part 50, which licenses nuclear power reactors and associated activities. The primary 
source is 10 CFR § 50.2, supplemented by the AEA’s foundational terminology. 

 
Nuclear waste storage means any facility, structure, or area designated and engineered for the safe containment, isolation, or disposal 
of byproduct material, special nuclear material, or other radioactive materials generated from nuclear energy facilities, including 
temporary or permanent storage solutions, provided such storage complies with federal regulations under 10 CFR Part 50 and related 
parts, and is subject to oversight by the Nuclear Regulatory Commission (NRC) to protect public health, safety, and the common 
defense and security. 
 

Explanation of Definition 
 

1. Facility, structure, or area designated and engineered for the safe containment, isolation, or disposal" aligns with 
language in NRC regulations, such as 10 CFR Part 60 (Disposal of High-Level Radioactive Wastes in Geologic 
Repositories) and 10 CFR Part 72 (Licensing Requirements for the Independent Storage of Spent Nuclear Fuel, 
High-Level Radioactive Waste, and Reactor-Related Greater Than Class C Waste). 

2. "Byproduct material, special nuclear material, or other radioactive materials" reflects definitions in 10 CFR Part 20 
(Standards for Protection Against Radiation) and the Atomic Energy Act of 1954, as amended. 

3. "Generated from nuclear energy facilities" ties to the scope of 10 CFR Part 50, which covers domestic licensing of 
production and utilization facilities (e.g., nuclear power reactors). 



4. "Temporary or permanent storage solutions" and "complies with federal regulations under 10 CFR Part 50 and 
related parts" suggest a broad interpretation encompassing both interim storage (e.g., 10 CFR Part 72) and 
permanent disposal (e.g., 10 CFR Part 60 or 61). 

5. "Subject to oversight by the NRC to protect public health, safety, and the common defense and security" mirrors the 
NRC’s mission and regulatory authority as stated in its enabling legislation and regulations. 

Related Sources: 
• 10 CFR Part 50: This part addresses the licensing of nuclear power plants but does not explicitly define "nuclear 

waste storage." It indirectly relates through requirements for managing radioactive materials (e.g., 10 CFR 50.2 
defines terms like "byproduct material" and "special nuclear material"). Available at: 
https://www.ecfr.gov/current/title-10/chapter-I/part-50. 

• 10 CFR Part 72: This part provides a more direct connection, defining terms and requirements for independent 
spent fuel storage installations (ISFSIs), which are engineered for the "storage of spent nuclear fuel, high-level 
radioactive waste, and reactor-related greater than Class C waste." See: https://www.ecfr.gov/current/title-
10/chapter-I/part-72. 

• NRC Backgrounder on Radioactive Waste: This provides a general overview of radioactive waste management, 
including storage: https://www.nrc.gov/reading-rm/doc-collections/fact-sheets/radwaste.html. 

Conclusion:  
The definition is not explicitly stated in any single NRC regulation or document but appears to be a composite derived from 
multiple sources, primarily within the Code of Federal Regulations, Title 10, administered by the NRC. The most relevant 
specific URL for the regulatory framework underpinning this definition would be the NRC’s compilation of regulations, such 
as: https://www.ecfr.gov/current/title-10/chapter-I (Title 10, Chapter I – Nuclear Regulatory Commission). 

 
NRC Emergency Planning Zone 

1. The following URL includes safety zones including a10-mile Plume Exposure Pathway EPZ and 50-mile Ingestion 
Exposure Pathway EPZ, which could serve as the basis for public notification and emergency planning. 

2. URL: https://www.nrc.gov/about-nrc/emerg-preparedness/about-emerg-preparedness/planning-zones.html 
 
NRC Licensing 

- https://www.nrc.gov/about-nrc/regulatory/licensing.html 
 

NRC Public Involvement in Licensing 
- https://www.nrc.gov/about-nrc/regulatory/licensing/pub-involve.html 

 
Nuclear Power Plant 

- A nuclear power plant is a thermal power station that harnesses energy from nuclear fuel fission. Here’s how it works: the 
heat released during fission boils water, producing steam. This steam drives a turbine connected to a generator, ultimately 
producing electricity. 

 
Small Modular Reactors (SMR) 

- Type of advanced nuclear reactor designed to be smaller in size and capacity compared to traditional nuclear reactors. 
- Characteristics: 

o Small Size.  SMRs have a power capacity of up to 30 MW per unit, which is about one-third of the capacity of 
conventional nuclear reactors. 

o Modular Construction.  These reactors are designed to be factory-assembled and transported to the site for 
installation. 

o Flexibility.  SMRs can be deployed in single or multiple modules, making them suitable for a variety of application, 
including industrial use and remote areas with limited grid capacity. 

o Safety. Many SMR designs incorporate passive safety features, which rely on natural physical processes rather than 
active controls to ensure safety. 

 

NUCLEAR PROCESS BEFORE THE NUCLEAR REGULATORY COMMISSION 

Nuclear energy power plants including their establishment is primarily governed by the United States Nuclear Regulatory 
Commission (NRC).  The NRC has a significant amount of control over the permitting and operation of such plants.  Companies who 
wish to get involved in nuclear must directly work with the NRC through the process of obtaining an “Early site permit (ESP).”  An 
example of this process can be found at the following NRC website: https://www.nrc.gov/reactors/new-reactors/large-lwr/esp/north-
anna.html 
 
This website illustrates the process for the North Anna Site that was submitted by Dominion Nuclear North Anna, LLC.  It includes 
application information, a review schedule, a safety evaluation report, a final environmental impact statement, the North Anna Early 
Site Permit, and contacts.  There is also a “combined license process” which includes construction and operation approvals.  The 
applicants must provide detailed plans for the plant’s design, construction, and operation as well as safety measures.  It is the duty of 
the NRC to thoroughly review the submissions.  The following website includes a list of combined license applications for new 
reactors: https://www.nrc.gov/reactors/new-reactors/large-lwr/col.html 
 
An example of a combined license can be found at this link for the North Anna, Unit 3 site: https://www.nrc.gov/reactors/new-
reactors/large-lwr/col/north-anna.html.  The application materials include: referenced documents; application information; review 
schedule; safety evaluations; early site permit; final supplemental environmental impact statement; combined licenses; related 
application information; and contacts. In the combined license process, the application is reviewed and includes a public participation 
process, safety and environmental reviews and compliance with the National Environmental Policy Act (NEPA).  The NRC also is 
involved in design certification, construction and operation, and post-license oversight. 
 
It appears at this time that the permitting process for nuclear power plants including modular is a multi-governmental complex process 
largely governed by the NRC.  The Iowa legislature appears to have considered two study bills (House Study Bill 555 and Senate 



Study Bill 3075) which would designate modular nuclear as an alternative energy production facility in Iowa.  For more information, 
there is a January 25, 2024 article written by Wally Taylor entitled “Iowa Utilities bill includes a good idea – and a lost cause” 
https://www.bleedingheartland.com/2024/01/25/iowa-utilities-board-bill-includes-a-good-idea-and-a-lost-cause/ 

 

Nuclear Regulatory Commission Website Resources – Excerpts from NRC.GOV 

Source: https://www.nrc.gov/reactors/new-reactors/advanced.html 

 
 
Laws and Regulations 

 
New nuclear reactor licensing is a complex, multi-year process governed by both federal laws passed by the U.S. Congress and regulations developed 

by the NRC. The Federal laws governing the NRC generally have high-level directives for the civilian use of nuclear materials. The finer details of 

reactor licensing and other civilian uses are found in Title 10 of the Code of Federal Regulations (10 CFR). The NRC develops and issues these 

regulations for all areas under its jurisdiction. All U.S. civilian uses of materials must comply with federal laws and the regulations in 10 CFR. 

Governing Legislation 
The NRC was established by the Energy Reorganization Act of 1974. A summary and a text of this law, as well as other key laws that govern 
our operations, are provided below. The texts of other laws may be found in Nuclear Regulatory Legislation (NUREG-0980). 
This page includes links to files in non-HTML format. See Plugins, Viewers, and Other Tools for more information. 
On this page 

• Fundamental Laws Governing Civilian Uses of Nuclear Materials and Facilities 
• Nuclear Waste 
• Non-Proliferation 
• Fundamental Laws Governing the Processes of Regulatory Agencies 
• Atomic Energy Act of 1954, as Amended 
• Energy Reorganization Act of 1974 
• Reorganization Plans 
• Nuclear Waste Policy Act of 1982, as Amended 
• Low-Level Radioactive Waste Policy Amendments Act of 1985 
• Uranium Mill Tailings Radiation Control Act of 1978 
• Nuclear Non-Proliferation Act of 1978 
• Administrative Procedure Act (5 U.S.C. Chapters 5 through 8) 
• National Environmental Policy Act 

Fundamental Laws Governing Civilian Uses of Nuclear Materials and Facilities  
• Atomic Energy Act of 1954, as Amended (summary below, full-text version) 
• Energy Reorganization Act of 1974 (summary below, full-text version) 



• Reorganization Plans (summary below, full-text version) 

Nuclear Waste 
• Nuclear Waste Policy Act of 1982 (summary below, full-text version) 
• Low-Level Radioactive Waste Policy Amendments Act of 1985 (summary below, full-text version) 
• Uranium Mill Tailings Radiation Control Act of 1978 (summary below, full-text version) 

Non-Proliferation 
• Nuclear Non-Proliferation Act of 1978 (summary below, full-text version) 

Fundamental Laws Governing the Processes of Regulatory Agencies 
• Administrative Procedure Act (5 U.S.C. Chapters 5 through 8) (summary below, full-text version) 
• National Environmental Policy Act (summary below, full-text version) 

 

Atomic Energy Act of 1954, as Amended 
This Act is the fundamental U.S. law on both the civilian and the military uses of nuclear materials. On the civilian side, it provides for both 
the development and the regulation of the uses of nuclear materials and facilities in the United States, declaring the policy that "the 
development, use, and control of atomic energy shall be directed so as to promote world peace, improve the general welfare, increase the 
standard of living, and strengthen free competition in private enterprise." The Act requires that civilian uses of nuclear materials and 
facilities be licensed, and it empowers the NRC to establish by rule or order, and to enforce, such standards to govern these uses as "the 
Commission may deem necessary or desirable in order to protect health and safety and minimize danger to life or property." Commission 
action under the Act must conform to the Act's procedural requirements, which provide an opportunity for hearings and Federal judicial 
review in many instances. 
Under section 274 of the Act, the NRC may enter into an agreement with a State for discontinuance of the NRC's regulatory authority over 
some materials licensees within the State. The State must first show that its regulatory program is compatible with the NRC's and adequate 
to protect public health and safety. The NRC retains authority over, among other things, nuclear power plants within the State and exports 
from the State. 
A major amendment to the Act established compensation for, and limits on, licensee liability for injury to off-site persons or damage to 
property caused by nuclear accidents. The Act was most recently amended by the ADVANCE Act of 2024, including amendments to the 
Act’s definition of byproduct material to address fusion machines explicitly and to provide the NRC with additional tools to strengthen the 
NRC workforce. 
(full-text version) 

 

Energy Reorganization Act of 1974 
This Act established the Nuclear Regulatory Commission. Under the Atomic Energy Act of 1954, a single agency, the Atomic Energy 
Commission, had responsibility for the development and production of nuclear weapons and for both the development and the safety 
regulation of the civilian uses of nuclear materials. The Act of 1974 split these functions, assigning to one agency, now the Department of 
Energy, the responsibility for the development and production of nuclear weapons, promotion of nuclear power, and other energy-related 
work, and assigning to the NRC the regulatory work, which does not include regulation of defense nuclear facilities. The Act of 1974 gave the 
Commission its collegial structure and established its major offices. The later amendment to the Act also provided protections for 
employees who raise nuclear safety concerns. 
(full-text version) 

 

Reorganization Plans 
Reorganization Plan No. 3 of 1970 established the U.S. Environmental Protection Agency (EPA) and gave it a role in establishing "generally 
applicable environmental standards for the protection of the general environment from radioactive material." 
Reorganization Plan No. 1 of 1980 strengthened the executive and administrative roles of the NRC Chairman, particularly in emergencies, 
transferring to the Chairman "all the functions vested in the Commission pertaining to an emergency concerning a particular facility or 
materials ... regulated by the Commission." This Reorganization Plan also provided that all policy formulation, policy-related rulemaking, 
and orders and adjudications would remain vested with the full Commission. 
(full-text version) 

 

Nuclear Waste Policy Act of 1982, as Amended 
This Act establishes both the Federal government's responsibility to provide a place for the permanent disposal of high-level radioactive 
waste and spent nuclear fuel, and the generators' responsibility to bear the costs of permanent disposal. Amendments to the Act have 
focused the Federal government's efforts, through the Department of Energy, regarding a possible site at Yucca Mountain, Nevada. 
(full-text version) 

 



Low-Level Radioactive Waste Policy Amendments Act of 1985 
This Act gives States the responsibility to dispose of low-level radioactive waste generated within their borders and allows them to form 
compacts to locate facilities to serve a group of States. The Act provides that the facilities will be regulated by the NRC or by States that 
have entered into Agreements with the NRC under section 274 of the Atomic Energy Act. The Act also requires the NRC to establish 
standards for determining when radionuclides are present in waste streams in sufficiently low concentrations or quantities as to be "below 
regulatory concern." 
(full-text version) 

 

Uranium Mill Tailings Radiation Control Act of 1978 
This Act establishes programs for the stabilization and control of mill tailings at uranium or thorium mill sites, both active and inactive, in 
order to prevent or minimize, among other things, the diffusion of radon into the environment. Title II of the Act gives the NRC regulatory 
authority over mill tailing at sites under NRC license on or after January 1, 1978. 
(full-text version) 

 

Nuclear Non-Proliferation Act of 1978 
This Act seeks to limit the spread of nuclear weapons by, among other things, establishing criteria governing U.S. nuclear exports licensed 
by the NRC and taking steps to strengthen the international safeguards system. 
(full-text version) 

 

Administrative Procedure Act (5 U.S.C. Chapters 5 through 8)  
This Act is the fundamental law governing the processes of Federal administrative agencies. Its original focus was on rulemaking and 
adjudication. It requires, for example, that affected persons be given adequate notice of proposed rules and an opportunity to comment on 
the proposed rules and that, in cases in which another statute requires that the agency provide a hearing "on the record," the parties are 
given adequate opportunity to present facts and argument and the hearing officer is impartial. The Act gives interested persons the right to 
petition an agency for the issuance, amendment, or repeal of a rule. It also provides standards for judicial review of agency actions. 
The Act has been amended often and now incorporates several other acts that cover a great range of processes. Three of these 
incorporated acts deal with access to information. The Freedom of Information Act requires that agencies make public their rules, 
adjudicatory decisions, statements of policy, instructions to staff that affect a member of the public, and, upon request, such other 
material as does not fall into one of the Act's exceptions for material dealing with national security, trade secrets, and the like. The 
Government in the Sunshine Act requires that collegial bodies such as the Commission hold their meetings in public, with certain 
exceptions for meetings on matters such as, again, national security. The Privacy Act limits release of certain information about individuals. 
Two of the acts incorporated into the Administrative Procedure Act provide for alternative mechanisms for resolving differences. The 
Negotiated Rulemaking Act allows agencies to develop rules in certain situations by negotiations among a limited number of parties, 
negotiations aimed at reaching a consensus on the proposed rule and avoiding litigation over the final rule. The Administrative Dispute 
Resolution Act urges agencies to use negotiation, mediation, arbitration, and related techniques in place of adjudication, enforcement, 
rulemaking, or court litigation. 
Two other incorporated acts are noteworthy. The Regulatory Flexibility Act requires that agencies consider the special needs and concerns 
of small entities in conducting rulemaking. The Congressional Review Act requires that every agency rule be submitted to Congress before 
being made effective, and that every "major" rule sit before Congress for 60 days before being made effective, during which time the rule 
can be subjected to an accelerated process that can lead to a statutory modification or disapproval of the rule. 
(full-text version) 

 

National Environmental Policy Act 
Every proposal for a major Federal action significantly affecting the quality of the human environment requires a detailed statement on, 
among other things, the environmental impact of the proposed action and alternatives to the proposed action. The statement is to 
accompany the proposal through the agency review process. The Act also established in the Executive Office of the President a Council on 
Environmental Quality, which has issued regulations on the preparation of environmental impact statements and on public participation in 
the preparation of the statements. 
(full-text version) 
 
NRC Regulations Title 10, Code of Federal Regulations 

Requirements binding on all persons and organizations who receive a license from NRC to use nuclear materials or operate nuclear facilities 

Effective Dates | Federal Register Notices | Rulemaking 

See also NRC's regulations, Title 10, Chapter I, of the Code of Federal Regulations, Volume 1 (Parts 1 – 50) and Volume 2 (Parts 51 – 199) which the Government 
Publishing Office maintains and updates annually. 

Standards Incorporated By Reference into Chapter I of Title 10 of the Code of Federal Regulations 

Download Title 10 (ZIP archive file): 
HTML format [9,893 KB], Portable Document Format (PDF) [7,613 KB] 

Quick links to parts: 

Front Matter 
1 | 2 | 4 | 5 | 7 | 8 | 9 | 10 | 11 | 12 | 13 | 14 | 15 | 16 | 19 



20 | 21 | 25 | 26 | 30 | 31 | 32 | 33 | 34 | 35 | 36 | 37 | 39 | 40 | 50 
51 | 52 | 53 | 54 | 55 | 60 | 61 | 62 | 63 | 70 | 71 | 72 | 73 | 74 | 75 

76 | 81 | 95 | 100 | 110 | 140 | 150 | 160 | 170 | 171 | 172-199 

Chapter I -- Nuclear Regulatory Commission 

Part Title 

Part 1 Statement of organization and general information 

Part 2 Agency Rules of Practice and Procedure 

Part 4 Nondiscrimination in Federally assisted programs or activities receiving Federal financial assistance from the Commission 

Part 5 Nondiscrimination on the basis of sex in education programs or activities receiving Federal financial assistance 

Part 7 Advisory committees 

Part 8 [Reserved] 

Part 9 Public records 

Part 10 Criteria and procedures for determining eligibility for access to restricted data or national security information or an employment clearance 

Part 11 Criteria and procedures for determining eligibility for access to or control over special nuclear material 

Part 12 Implementation of the Equal Access to Justice Act in agency proceedings 

Part 13 Program fraud civil remedies 

Part 14 Administrative claims under Federal Tort Claims Act 

Part 15 Debt collection procedures 

Part 16 Salary offset procedures for collecting debts owed by Federal employees to the Federal government 

Part 19 Notices, instructions and reports to workers: inspection and investigations 

Part 20 Standards for protection against radiation 

Part 21 Reporting of defects and noncompliance 

Part 25 Access authorization 

Part 26 Fitness for duty programs 

Part 30 Rules of general applicability to domestic licensing of byproduct material 

Part 31 General domestic licenses for byproduct material 

Part 32 Specific domestic licenses to manufacture or transfer certain items containing byproduct material 

Part 33 Specific domestic licenses of broad scope for byproduct material 

Part 34 Licenses for industrial radiography and radiation safety requirements for industrial radiographic operations 

Part 35 Medical use of byproduct material 

Part 36 Licenses and radiation safety requirements for irradiators 

Part 37 Physical protection of category 1 and category 2 quantities of radioactive material 

Part 39 Licenses and radiation safety requirements for well logging 

Part 40 Domestic licensing of source material 

Part 50 Domestic licensing of production and utilization facilities 

Part 51 Environmental protection regulations for domestic licensing and related regulatory functions 

Part 52 Licenses, certifications, and approvals for nuclear power plants 

Part 53 [Reserved] 

Part 54 Requirements for renewal of operating licenses for nuclear power plants 

Part 55 Operators' licenses 

Part 60 Disposal of high-level radioactive wastes in geologic repositories 

Part 61 Licensing requirements for land disposal of radioactive waste 

Part 62 Criteria and procedures for emergency access to non-federal and regional low-level waste disposal facilities 

Part 63 Disposal of high-level radioactive wastes in a geologic repository at Yucca Mountain, Nevada 

Part 70 Domestic licensing of special nuclear material 

Part 71 Packaging and transportation of radioactive material 

Part 72 Licensing requirements for the independent storage of spent nuclear fuel and high-level radioactive waste, and reactor-related greater than 
Class C waste 



Part 73 Physical protection of plants and materials 

Part 74 Material control and accounting of special nuclear material 

Part 75 

Safeguards on nuclear material—implementation of safeguards agreements between the United States and the International Atomic Energy 
Agency 

Part 76 Certification of gaseous diffusion plants 

Part 81 Standard specifications for the granting of patent licenses 

Part 95 Facility security clearance and safeguarding of national security information and restricted data 

Part 100 Reactor site criteria 

Part 110 Export and import of nuclear equipment and material 

Part 140 Financial protection requirements and indemnity agreements 

Part 150 Exemptions and continued regulatory authority in Agreement States and in offshore waters under section 274 

Part 160 Trespassing on Commission property 

Part 170 Fees for facilities, materials, import and export licenses, and other regulatory services under the Atomic Energy Act of 1954, as amended 

Part 171 Annual fees for reactor licenses and fuel cycle licenses and materials licenses, including holders of certificates of compliance, 
registrations, and quality assurance program approvals and government agencies licensed by the NRC 

Parts 172-199 [Reserved] 
 

 

ANNOTATED BIBLIOGRAPHY 

The following annotated bibliography reveals several key themes surrounding nuclear energy. It begins with a foundational understanding of nuclear 

energy’s scientific principles and its role in electricity generation, emphasizing its low-emission potential alongside the challenge of radioactive 

waste management. A significant focus is placed on the pros and cons, highlighting benefits like carbon-neutral power, reliability, and efficiency, 

while addressing drawbacks such as safety risks, high costs, and waste disposal concerns. Emerging technologies, including small modular reactors 

(SMRs) and high-assay low-enriched uranium (HALEU), are explored as innovative solutions offering enhanced safety and cost-effectiveness. 

Policy and regulatory efforts, particularly in the U.S., aim to streamline deployment and licensing to bolster the nuclear sector. Nuclear energy’s role 

in combating climate change is underscored by its low carbon footprint, though economic factors like high capital costs and the need for government 

support remain critical. Finally, the persistent challenge of radioactive waste management is a recurring theme, with progress in interim storage and 

geological repositories tempered by delays, costs, and public opposition, leaving long-term solutions unresolved. Together, these themes reflect 

nuclear energy’s complex balance of promise and peril. 
 

Theme 1: General Overview and Science of Nuclear Energy 

This theme covers sources that provide foundational explanations of nuclear energy, its scientific basis, and its role in energy production. 

• Endesa. (2022). Nuclear energy: what it is and its advantages and disadvantages. Retrieved from https://www.endesa.com/en/the-e-

face/power-plants/nuclear-power 

• The article aims to clarify nuclear energy, its generation, and its role in energy production, particularly in Spain. It seeks to 

provide an informative overview for understanding nuclear energy’s implications, especially in land use planning for county 

zoning ordinances. 

• Galindo, A. (2022). What is nuclear energy? The science of nuclear power. International Atomic Energy Agency. Retrieved 

from https://www.iaea.org/newscenter/news/what-is-nuclear-energy-the-science-of-nuclear-power 

• Nuclear energy, derived from nuclear fission, is harnessed in power plants to generate electricity. The process involves splitting 

uranium atoms, managing radioactive waste, and adhering to international safety standards set by the IAEA. 

• National Geographic. (2020). Nuclear energy. Retrieved from https://education.nationalgeographic.org/resource/nuclear-energy/ 

• Nuclear energy, derived from splitting atoms, is harnessed in reactors to generate electricity. While clean and renewable, it 

requires careful handling of radioactive waste. 

• U.S. Energy Information Administration. (n.d.). Nuclear explained. Nuclear power and the environment. Retrieved 

from https://www.eia.gov/energyexplained/nuclear/nuclear-power-and-the-environment.php 

• Nuclear power plants in the U.S. have robust safety measures and containment structures. While nuclear power generation is 

low-emission, it produces radioactive waste requiring strict management and disposal. 
 

Theme 2: Pros and Cons of Nuclear Energy 

This theme includes sources that evaluate the advantages and disadvantages of nuclear energy, focusing on safety, cost, efficiency, and 

environmental impact. 

• Iginia, M. (2023). The advantages and disadvantages of nuclear energy. Earth.org. Retrieved from https://earth.org/the-advantages-and-

disadvantages-of-nuclear-energy/ 

• Educates readers on nuclear energy’s environmental, economic, and safety implications. This information is crucial for zoning 

and land use policies. 

• Just Energy. (2023). Pros and cons of nuclear energy: Safety, cost, efficiency. Retrieved from https://justenergy.com/blog/pros-and-cons-

of-nuclear-energy-safety-cost-efficiency/ 

• Nuclear energy offers carbon-neutral power and significant energy output, but risks include accidents, waste disposal, and limited 

resources. Technological advancements are crucial for improving safety and efficiency. 

• Let's Talk Science. (2019). What are the pros and cons of nuclear energy? Retrieved from https://letstalkscience.ca/educational-

resources/stem-in-context/what-are-pros-and-cons-nuclear-energy 



• Nuclear energy has both advantages and disadvantages. While it offers safety and reduces air pollution, concerns remain about 

nuclear weapons proliferation, waste management, and potential accidents. 

• Lumley, G. (2024). Pros and cons of nuclear energy. BKV Energy. Retrieved from https://bkvenergy.com/learning-center/nuclear-energy-

pros-and-cons/ 

• Nuclear energy offers low emissions and high efficiency but faces challenges like accidents, waste management, and high costs. 

While it can reduce fossil fuel dependency, safety, proliferation, and long-term viability concerns remain. 

• Mathis, J. (2023). The pros and cons of nuclear power. The Week. Retrieved from https://theweek.com/climate-change/1013907/the-pros-

and-cons-of-nuclear-power 

• Nuclear power is a double-edged sword, offering emissions-free energy and energy security but posing challenges like waste 

management, high costs, and safety risks. 

• Moses, M. (2020). What are the advantages of nuclear energy? EDF Energy. Retrieved 

from https://www.edfenergy.com/energywise/what-are-advantages-nuclear-energy 

• Nuclear energy is a low-carbon, reliable, and efficient solution. It provides a stable power supply, is highly efficient, and has a 

long operational life. 

• Smith, J. (n.d.). The pros and cons of nuclear energy in 2025. Solar Reviews. Edited by Catherine Lane. Retrieved 

from https://www.solarreviews.com/blog/nuclear-energy-pros-and-cons 

• Nuclear energy offers low-cost, reliable power with zero-carbon emissions, but it comes with environmental concerns, water 

usage, and the risk of accidents. 

• The Conversation. (2021). How to make up your mind about the pros and cons of nuclear power. Retrieved 

from https://theconversation.com/how-to-make-up-your-mind-about-the-pros-and-cons-of-nuclear-power-172474 

• Nuclear power offers low carbon emissions and reliable energy, but concerns remain about accidents, waste disposal, and high 

initial costs. 

• Unwin, J. (2019). Nuclear power: The pros and cons of the energy source. Power Technology. Retrieved from https://www.power-

technology.com/features/nuclear-power-pros-cons/ 

• Nuclear power offers low carbon emissions and reliable energy, but risks nuclear accidents and waste disposal. High initial costs 

and long-term storage challenges must be considered. 

• U.S. Department of Energy. (2024). Advantages and challenges of nuclear energy. Retrieved 

from https://www.energy.gov/ne/articles/advantages-and-challenges-nuclear-energy 

• Nuclear energy is a clean and reliable source of power, but faces challenges such as public perception, used fuel management, 

and high construction and operating costs. 

• X-Energy. (2023). The advantages of nuclear energy. Retrieved from https://x-energy.com/blog-all/investing-in-our-planet-earth-day-and-

beyond-2sz9p 

• Nuclear energy is highlighted as a clean, safe, and reliable solution. Advanced nuclear technologies, like small modular reactors, 

offer benefits such as reduced water usage, enhanced safety, and cost-effectiveness. 
 

Theme 3: Advanced Nuclear Technologies (e.g., Small Modular Reactors, HALEU) 

This theme focuses on emerging nuclear technologies, such as small modular reactors (SMRs) and high-assay low-enriched uranium (HALEU). 

• Kanost, T., & Lawrence, B. (2022). Without a plant currently operating in Iowa, does nuclear energy have a future in the state?. We Are 

Iowa. Retrieved from https://www.weareiowa.com/article/tech/science/climate-change/nuclear-energy-in-iowa-future-developments-

midamerican/524-aaed2ac4-7c3b-406a-a84b-c6e356b181ee 

• MidAmerican Energy’s Wind PRIME project explores nuclear energy, specifically small modular reactors (SMRs), to achieve 

net-zero emissions. While SMRs offer potential benefits, safety, cost, and waste management concerns remain. 

• Liou, J. (2023). What are small modular reactors (SMRs)? International Atomic Energy Agency. Retrieved 

from https://www.iaea.org/newscenter/news/what-are-small-modular-reactors-smrs 

• Small Modular Reactors (SMRs) are compact, factory-built nuclear reactors with a power capacity of up to 300 MW(e). They 

offer advantages like flexible siting, cost-effectiveness, and enhanced safety, making them suitable for various applications and 

locations. 

• U.S. Department of Energy. (n.d.). Advanced Small Modular Reactors (SMRs) Retrieved from https://www.energy.gov/ne/advanced-

small-modular-reactors-smrs 

• Advanced Small Modular Reactors (SMRs) offer versatility, safety, and economic benefits, with government support and funding 

opportunities for their development. 

• U.S. Department of Energy. (2024). What is high assay low enriched uranium (HALEU)? Retrieved 

from https://www.energy.gov/ne/articles/what-high-assay-low-enriched-uranium-haleu 

• High-Assay Low-Enriched Uranium (HALEU) is essential for advanced nuclear reactors, and the DOE is exploring production 

methods to meet the growing domestic demand. The Piketon Demonstration Project and HALEU Availability Program aim to 

ensure a domestic supply chain for HALEU. 

• U.S. Department of Energy. (2024). NRC dockets construction permit application for TerraPower’s Natrium reactor. Retrieved 

from https://www.energy.gov/ne/articles/nrc-dockets-construction-permit-application-terrapowers-natrium-reactor 

• The NRC accepted TerraPower’s application for a sodium-cooled fast reactor in Wyoming, marking the first time in over 40 

years. The project aims to demonstrate advanced reactor technology and support clean energy. 
 

Theme 4: Policy, Regulation, and Deployment 

This theme addresses governmental policies, regulatory frameworks, and efforts to deploy nuclear energy. 

• Baranwal, R. (2019). New DOE and NRC agreement will lead to faster deployment and licensing of U.S. nuclear. U.S. Department of 

Energy. Retrieved from https://www.energy.gov/ne/articles/new-doe-and-nrc-agreement-will-lead-faster-deployment-and-licensing-us-

nuclear 



• The U.S. Department of Energy and the NRC are collaborating to accelerate the deployment of advanced nuclear technologies. 

This partnership will streamline the licensing process, provide information sharing, and enable faster commercialization of these 

technologies. 

• Nuclear Regulatory Commission. (n.d.). Backgrounder on nuclear power plant licensing process. Retrieved 

from https://www.nrc.gov/reading-rm/doc-collections/fact-sheets/licensing-process-fs.html 

• The Nuclear Regulatory Commission (NRC) oversees the licensing process for nuclear power plants in the United States, which 

involves a two-step process, combined license, early site permits, and design certification. The NRC ensures compliance with 

regulations for public health, safety, and environmental protection throughout the plant’s lifetime. 

• Nuclear Regulatory Commission. (n.d.). Office of Nuclear Material Safety and Safeguards. Retrieved from https://scp.nrc.gov/ 

• The Office of Nuclear Material Safety and Safeguards (NMSS) within the Nuclear Regulatory Commission (NRC) manages 

communication and relationships with various government entities. NMSS also oversees key programs like the Agreement State 

Program and Tribal Liaison Program, providing resources and support. 

• U.S. Department of Energy. (2024). Newly signed bill will boost nuclear reactor deployment in the United States. Retrieved 

from https://www.energy.gov/ne/articles/newly-signed-bill-will-boost-nuclear-reactor-deployment-united-

states#:~:text=President%20Biden%20signed%20the%20Fire,t%20seen%20since%20the%201970s 

• The ADVANCE Act, part of the Fire Grants and Safety Act, aims to revitalize the U.S. nuclear power sector by accelerating 

reactor deployment, supporting innovation, and ensuring a secure, clean energy future. 

• White House-Biden Administration. (2024). Fact sheet: Biden-Harris administration announces new steps to bolster domestic nuclear 

industry and advance America’s clean energy future. Retrieved from https://bidenwhitehouse.archives.gov/briefing-room/statements-

releases/2024/05/29/fact-sheet-biden-harris-administration-announces-new-steps-to-bolster-domestic-nuclear-industry-and-advance-

americas-clean-energy-future/ 

• The Biden-Harris Administration announced initiatives to strengthen the domestic nuclear industry, reduce reliance on Russian 

uranium, and advance clean energy. These efforts aim to support a carbon-free electricity sector by 2035. 
 

Theme 5: Nuclear Energy and Climate Change 

This theme explores nuclear energy’s role as a solution to climate change and its environmental implications. 

• Rhodes, R. (2018). Why nuclear power must be part of the energy solution: Environmentalists and climate. Yale Environment 360. 

Retrieved from https://e360.yale.edu/features/why-nuclear-power-must-be-part-of-the-energy-solution-environmentalists-climate 

• Nuclear power, with its low carbon emissions and high capacity factor, is a valuable solution to climate change, despite concerns 

about accidents and waste. 
 

Theme 6: Economics of Nuclear Power 

This theme focuses on the financial aspects of nuclear energy, including costs, competitiveness, and government support. 

• World Nuclear Association. (2021). Economics of nuclear power. Retrieved from https://world-nuclear.org/information-

library/economic-aspects/economics-of-nuclear-power 

• Nuclear power is cost-competitive, especially with low fuel costs and long-term operation, despite high capital costs. 

Government support is crucial for financing nuclear power projects in deregulated markets. 
 

Theme 7: Radioactive Waste Management and Disposal 

This theme covers the challenges, methods, and policies related to managing and disposing of nuclear waste. 

• Earth.Org. (2022). The nuclear waste disposal dilemma. Retrieved from https://earth.org/nuclear-waste-disposal/ 

• Finland’s Onkalo repository showcases a pioneering approach to permanent disposal, potentially setting a global standard. Critics 

note technical uncertainties and high costs, questioning its viability as a universal solution. 

• Ewing, R. C. (2018). The steep costs of nuclear waste in the U.S. Stanford Doerr School of Sustainability. Retrieved 

from https://sustainability.stanford.edu/news/steep-costs-nuclear-waste-us 

• Interim storage is well-contained, but aging tanks at sites like Hanford have leaked, releasing radioactivity into the environment. 

Permanent disposal could save billions, yet funding and political will remain inadequate. 

• International Atomic Energy Agency (IAEA). (2022). New IAEA report presents global overview of radioactive waste and spent fuel 

management. Retrieved from https://www.iaea.org/newscenter/news/new-iaea-report-presents-global-overview-of-radioactive-waste-and-

spent-fuel-management 

• Positives include significant progress in safe interim storage and the development of deep geological repositories (DGRs), with 

Finland nearing operation of the first such facility. Negatives include prolonged storage due to delays in disposal capacity, 

increasing the need for additional facilities and raising safety concerns over time. 

• Macfarlane, A., & Ewing, R. C. (2023). Nuclear waste is piling up. Does the U.S. have a plan? Scientific American. Retrieved 

from https://www.scientificamerican.com/article/nuclear-waste-is-piling-up-does-the-u-s-have-a-plan/ 

• Temporary storage at reactor sites is safe for decades, but the lack of a geologic repository shifts risks to future generations. The 

authors highlight job creation potential in repository projects, though political gridlock and community opposition remain 

significant barriers. 

• Nuclear Energy Agency (NEA). (n.d.). The disposal of high-level radioactive waste (Issue Brief No. 3). Retrieved 

from https://www.oecd-nea.org/jcms/pl_14918/issue-brief-no-3-the-disposal-of-high-level-radioactive-waste 

• DGRs provide a sustainable solution with robust isolation, supported by international cooperation. Challenges include high costs, 

technical uncertainties over millennia, and the need for public trust in safety assurances. 

• U.S. Energy Information Administration (EIA). (2022). Nuclear explained. Nuclear power and the environment. Retrieved 

from https://www.eia.gov/energyexplained/nuclear/nuclear-power-and-the-environment.php 

• Nuclear power plants produce minimal carbon emissions, and high-level waste is initially stored safely in water pools or dry 

casks. However, the U.S. lacks a permanent disposal site, leaving waste at reactor sites indefinitely, posing long-term 

environmental and safety risks. 



• U.S. Environmental Protection Agency (EPA). (2025). Radioactive waste. Retrieved from https://www.epa.gov/radtown/radioactive-

waste 

• Strict regulations ensure safe handling and transport of high-level waste, minimizing immediate risks. Long-term isolation 

remains unresolved, with potential environmental contamination if storage fails over time. 

• U.S. Government Accountability Office (GAO). (2023). Nuclear waste disposal. Retrieved from https://www.gao.gov/nuclear-waste-

disposal 

• Storage facilities like the Waste Isolation Pilot Plant (WIPP) demonstrate successful disposal of transuranic waste, but high-level 

waste from commercial reactors remains stranded, costing billions in damages to utilities and lacking a clear disposal path. 

• U.S. Nuclear Regulatory Commission (NRC). (2024). Backgrounder on radioactive waste. Retrieved from https://www.nrc.gov/reading-

rm/doc-collections/fact-sheets/radwaste.html 

• High-level waste is securely managed in robust containers, with strict regulations ensuring safety during storage. However, the 

absence of a permanent repository in the U.S. increases reliance on temporary solutions, raising concerns about aging 

infrastructure and potential leaks. 

• World Nuclear Association. (2024). Storage and disposal of radioactive waste. Retrieved from https://world-nuclear.org/information-

library/nuclear-fuel-cycle/nuclear-wastes/storage-and-disposal-of-radioactive-waste.aspx 

• Positives include proven technologies for interim storage (e.g., dry casks) and international consensus on deep geological 

disposal as a safe long-term solution. Negatives involve public resistance and the high costs of constructing DGRs, delaying 

implementation in many countries. 

• World Nuclear Association. (2024). Radioactive waste – Myths and realities. Retrieved from https://world-nuclear.org/information-

library/nuclear-fuel-cycle/nuclear-waste/radioactive-wastes-myths-and-realities 

• High-level waste’s radioactivity decreases significantly over time, and geological disposal is technologically feasible, offering 

long-term isolation. Negatives include misconceptions fueling public fear, complicating site selection and increasing costs. 

• World Nuclear Waste Report. (n.d.). World Nuclear Waste Report: Focus Europe. Retrieved from https://worldnuclearwastereport.org/ 

• Wet storage dominates in Europe, posing risks if pools fail, but dry storage offers safer alternatives. High costs and lack of final 

disposal sites increase reliance on interim solutions, shifting burdens to future generations. 

 

 

INFORMATIONAL MEETINGS AND PUBLIC HEARINGS 

• Zoning Commission, Information Item – August 26, 2024 

• Board of Adjustment, Information Item – September 4, 2024 

• Zoning Commission, Public Hearing – September 23, 2024 

• Board of Adjustment, Information Item – October 7, 2024 

• Zoning Commission, Information Item –November 25, 2024 

• Zoning Commission, Public Hearing – January 27, 2025 

• Zoning Commission, Public Hearing – February 24, 2025 

• Board of Adjustment, Information Item – March 3, 2025 

• Zoning Commission, Public Hearing – March 24, 2025 

• Zoning Commission, Public Hearing – May 28, 2025 

• Zoning Commission, Public Hearing – June 23, 2025 

 

 

STAKEHOLDER COMMENTS 

Stakeholders including other jurisdictions, government agencies, utilities, and organizations have been 

contacted and have been requested to comment on July 26, 2024, December 4, 2024, and January 3, 2025, 

February 6, 2025, March 6, 2025, June 6, 2025.  The comments received are provided for review below. 



  

  
 

 

 

 

 

 

Sent again on January 

3, 2025 as a follow-up 

reminder.   



 COMMENTS 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 

 



 

 

 
 



 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 



 
 

 
 

 
 

 

 

 

 



 
 



 
 



 



 
 

 



 
 

 



 
 



 

 
 

 

 

 

 



 
 

 

 



 
 

 



 
 

 

 



 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



BOARD OF SUPERVISORS’ DIRECTION 

 

 

 

Public Hearing Public Notifications in Newspapers: 

 

Danbury Review – 9/18/24, 1/8/25, 2/12/25, 3/12/25, 5/14/25, 6/11/25 

 

Moville Record – 9/18/24, 1/9/25, 2/12/25, 3/13/25, 5/15/25, 6/12/25 

 

Sergeant Bluff Advocate – 9/12/24, 1/9/25, 1/12/25, 3/13/25, 5/15/25, 6/12/25 

 

Sioux City Journal – 9/12/24, 1/11/25, 2/11/25, 3/13/25, 5/13/25, 6/12/25 

 

 



 
 



 
 



 



 
 



 

 



 
 



 
 



 



WOODBURY COUNTY BOARD OF SUPERVISORS AGENDA ITEM(S) REQUEST FORM 

Date:    _________________         Weekly Agenda Date:     ______________ 

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY: 

BACKGROUND: 

ELECTED OFFICIAL / DEPARTMENT HEAD / CITIZEN:       ____________________________________ 

WORDING FOR AGENDA ITEM:    

ACTION REQUIRED:

   Approve Resolution         Approve Motion   Approve Ordinance

Public Hearing                Other:  Informational      Attachments    

7/16/25 7/22/25 4:45

Dan Priestley

Amendment 1 Summary: Replaces the "Accessory second dwelling for relative or worker on property" line item in the Land Use
Summary Table with a new line item called "One Accessory Dwelling". This allows for one accessory dwelling in certain zoning
districts (AP, AE, NR, SR) but prohibits it in others (GC, HC, LI, GI).

Amendment 2 Summary: Repeals and replaces a section related to lot requirements, stating that only one principal residential
structure can be built on a zoning lot, but adds that at least one accessory dwelling unit (ADU) must be permitted on the same lot as
a single-family residence, as long as it complies with Iowa Code 331.301(27).

Following the public hearing, the Board of Supervisors may:
(1) Defer consideration of the matter for further study; or
(2) Reject the proposed amendment; or
(3) Adopt the ordinance amending the text of this title.

To align with SF592, the Woodbury County Zoning Commission has proposed amendments to the county's zoning ordinance to
meet compliance with Iowa Code Section 331.301(27). The commission's proposal addresses outdated restrictions in the existing
ordinance, which previously limited accessory second dwellings to specific uses (e.g., for relatives or workers) and did not fully align
with the state's new requirements for ADUs.

The proposed amendments reflect the state's mandate to allow ADUs in residential and agricultural zoning districts while
maintaining prohibitions in commercial and industrial zones, where residential uses are less appropriate. The changes also clarify
that ADUs are permitted as principal uses in certain districts, ensuring consistency with state law and promoting housing flexibility in
unincorporated areas of the county.

The Woodbury County Zoning Commission's amendments aim to bring the county's zoning ordinance into full compliance with
SF592 by:

Updating the Land Use Table: The repeal of the restrictive “Accessory second dwelling for relative or worker on property” line item
removes limitations that tied ADUs to specific occupant relationships, which SF592 prohibits. The new “One Accessory Dwelling”
line item allows ADUs as a principal use in agricultural and residential zoning districts (AP, AE, NR, and SR), aligning with the
state's mandate to permit at least one ADU per single-family lot. The prohibition in commercial and industrial zones (GC, HC, LI,
and GI) ensures that ADUs are limited to areas where residential use is appropriate.

Revising Lot Requirements: The amendment to Section 4.04 clarifies that while only one principal residential structure is allowed
per lot, at least one ADU is permitted, consistent with Iowa Code 331.301(27). This change eliminates the need for conditional use
or planned development approvals for ADUs, streamlining the permitting process as required by SF592.

These amendments ensure that Woodbury County's zoning ordinance aligns with state law, promotes housing flexibility, and
supports property owners in unincorporated areas by allowing ADUs without undue restrictions. The proposal reflects a balance
between state mandates and local zoning priorities, fostering housing development while maintaining the character of different
zoning districts.

a. Conduct first public hearing to amend the Zoning Ordinance to comply with Iowa Senate File 592, signed into law on May 1,
2025, which mandates allowing at least one accessory dwelling unit on lots with single-family residences and prohibits certain
restrictive regulations, necessitating updates to sections like the Land Use Summary Table, Lot Requirements, and Number of
Residential Structures. b. Approve the 1st Reading of the Zoning Ordinance Text Amendments.

✔

✔

✔

✔



FINANCIAL IMPACT:   

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

IF THERE IS A CONTRACT INVOLVED IN THE AGENDA ITEM, HAS THE CONTRACT BEEN SUBMITTED AT LEAST ONE WEEK 
PRIOR AND ANSWERED WITH A REVIEW BY THE COUNTY ATTORNEY’S OFFICE? 

Yes     ☐            No       ☐ 

RECOMMENDATION:    

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

ACTION REQUIRED / PROPOSED MOTION:   
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Approved by Board of Supervisors April 5, 2016.  

0

Open and close the public hearing. (Set Time: 4:45 PM)

Conduct and approve the first reading of the Zoning Ordinance Text Amendments.

The 2nd and 3rd public hearings and readings of the ordinance have been scheduled for Tuesday, 7/29/25 at
4:45 PM, and Tuesday, 8/5/25 at 4:45 PM, respectively.

a. Motion to receive the report/recommendation from the Woodbury County Zoning Commission concerning zoning ordinance text
amendments for nuclear energy facilities, nuclear waste storage, related uses, and amendments to reorganize the ordinance.

b. Motion to set dates and times for 3 public hearings on zoning ordinance text amendments concerning nuclear energy facilities,
nuclear waste storage, related uses, and the reorganization of the ordinance. Proposed dates/times: July 22, 2025, 4:40 PM, July
29, 2025, 4:40 PM, and August 5, 2025, 4:40 PM



 

 

  

WOODBURY COUNTY 

ZONING COMMISSION  
WOODBURY COUNTY COURTHOUSE 

620 DOUGLAS STREET 

SIOUX CITY, IA 51101 

 

To:   Woodbury County Board of Supervisors 

620 Douglas Street 

Sioux City, Iowa 51101 

 

From:  Christine Zellmer Zant, Chair 

Woodbury County Zoning Commission 

 

Date:  June 24, 2025 

 

Subject: Zoning Commission Recommendation Accessory Second Dwellings 

 

Dear Members of the Board of Supervisors, 

The Woodbury County Zoning Commission convened on June 23, 2025, to address zoning 

ordinance text amendments for accessory dwelling units (ADUs) to comply with Iowa Senate 

File 592. Following discussion and consideration of public input, the Commission unanimously 

(5-0) recommends approval of the proposed zoning ordinance text amendments (see attached). 

The discussion centered on aligning the county’s zoning ordinance with Senate File 592, signed 

into law on May 1, 2025, which mandates that counties permit at least one ADU on lots with a 

single-family residence, subject to specific conditions. The proposed amendments adopt the 

state’s minimum standards, allowing ADUs of at least 1,000 square feet or 50% of the primary 

dwelling’s size, whichever is greater, while maintaining the 23-foot minimum dimension 

requirement for building permits. The Commission noted that other jurisdictions are similarly 

adapting to this law, particularly regarding infrastructure concerns like wells and septic systems. 

The recommendation to adhere strictly to state minimums allows for future re-evaluation if 

demand for larger ADUs arises. 

No public comments were received during the June 23 meeting, either in person or via phone, 

though the opportunity for input was provided. The Commission viewed this as a housekeeping 

matter to ensure compliance with state law, with flexibility for future adjustments based on 

community needs or feedback. 

The Commission believes these amendments fulfill the county’s obligation to align with state 

requirements while maintaining a straightforward approach. We respectfully submit this 

recommendation for your approval and look forward to your review during the public hearing 

process. 

See attached recommended framework. 

 



 

 

 

 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

ORDINANCE NO. _____ 

 

WOODBURY COUNTY, IOWA 

 

 

AN ORDINANCE AMENDING THE TEXT OF THE WOODBURY COUNTY ZONING 

ORDINANCE TO BRING THE ZONING ORDINANCE INTO COMPLIANCE WITH 

THE CODE OF IOWA AS IT RELATES TO ACCESSORY SECOND DWELLINGS IN 

UNINCORPORATED WOODBURY COUNTY. 

 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT ENACTED BY THE BOARD OF SUPERVISORS OF 

WOODBURY COUNTY, IOWA THAT THE BELOW ZONING ORDINANCE LANGUAGE 

AMENDMENTS BE MADE: 

 

Amendment 1: 

 

On page 32, in Section 3.03.4, in the Land Use Summary Table of Allowed Uses in each Zoning 

District, to repeal the line item entitled “Accessory second dwelling for relative or worker on 

property” and all of its designated uses in each Zoning District column entitled AP Agricultural 

Preservation, AE Agricultural Estates, NR Non-Agricultural Residential, SR Suburban 

Residential, GC General Commercial, HC Highway Commercial, LI Limited Industrial, and GI 

General Industrial, and replace with a new line item entitled “One Accessory Dwelling” and 

designate the following uses in each Zoning District column as follows by placing: “ok” 

(Principal allowed use) in the AP Agricultural Preservation column; “ok” (Principal allowed use) 

in the AE Agricultural Estates column; “ok” (Principal allowed use) in the NR Non-Agricultural 

Residential column; “ok” (Principal allowed use) in SR Suburban Residential column; “--” 

(Prohibited use) in the GC General Commercial column; “--” (Prohibited use) in the HC 

Highway Commercial column; “--” (Prohibited use) in the LI Limited Industrial column; and “--

” (Prohibited use) in the GI General Industrial column. 

 

Amendment 2: 

 

On page 43, in Section 4.04: Lot Requirements, to repeal “2. Number of Residential Structures. 

Not more than one principal residential structure shall be constructed, structurally altered or used 

for residential purposes on any zoning lot except as allowed by conditional use or planned 

development” and to replace with the following: 

 

"2. Number of Residential Structures. Only one principal residential structure may be 

constructed, structurally altered, or used for residential purposes on any zoning lot. Additionally, 

at least one accessory dwelling unit (ADU)—defined as a secondary residential dwelling unit 

located on the same lot as a single-family residence, either attached to or detached from it—shall 

be permitted on the same lot as a single-family residence, in accordance with Iowa Code 

331.301.(27)." 

 



 

 

 

 
Dated this ____ day of _________, 2025. 

THE WOODBURY COUNTY, IOWA BOARD OF SUPERVISORS 

 

________________________   

Daniel Bittinger II, Chairman    

      

________________________   

Mark Nelson, Vice-Chairman   

      

________________________   

Kent Carper 

    

Attest:        ________________________  

       David Dietrich 

      

______________________________  ________________________ 

Michelle K. Skaff, Woodbury County Auditor Matthew Ung 

 
Adoption Timeline: 

Date of Public Hearing and First Reading____________  

Date of Public Hearing and Second Reading____________ 
Date of Public Hearing and Third Reading____________ 

Date of Adoption_____________ 

Published/Effective Date____________ 
 



 

 

Woodbury County Zoning Commission Meeting Minutes 
 
Date: June 23, 2025 
Time: 5:00 PM 
Location: Board of Supervisors' Meeting Room, Basement, Woodbury County Courthouse, 620 Douglas Street, Sioux City, IA 
 

MEETING AUDIO: 
For specific content of this meeting, refer to the recorded video on the Woodbury County Zoning Commission “Committee 
Page” on the Woodbury County website: 

- County Website Link: 
o https://www.woodburycountyiowa.gov/committees/zoning_commission/ 

- YouTube Direct Link: 
o   https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=a5z4GlaHc2o 

 

Attendees 

• Commissioners Present: Chris Zellmer Zant – Chair, Tom Bride – Vice Chair, Steve Corey, Jeff Hanson, Corey 
Meister 

• Staff Present: Dan Priestley – Zoning Coordinator, Dawn Norton – Senior Clerk 

• Supervisor(s) Present: Kent Carper 

• Public Attendees: Kevin Heiss, Slater Ohm, Dana Neal (via phone), Lynn Drees (via phone) 
 

Call to Order 
Chair Chris Zellmer Zant called the meeting to order at 5:00 p.m. The Chair reviewed the meeting procedures, including the 
audiotaping of the meeting, the preparation of minutes, the request for cell phones to be turned off or set to vibrate, and the 
requirement for attendees to complete the attendance sheet. The Chair also outlined the public hearing procedures, including 
staff reports, applicant presentations, public comments (limited to three minutes per speaker), and the closure of hearings by 
motion and vote. 
 
Roll Call 
All the commissioners were present. 
 
Public Comment on Matters Not on the Agenda (Information Item) 
The Chair inquired if there were any public comments on matters not on the agenda. Seeing and hearing none, the meeting 
proceeded. 
 
Approval of Minutes from Previous Meeting: May 28, 2025 (Special Meeting) (Action Item) 
The Chair asked for any corrections or comments regarding the minutes from the previous meeting on May 28, 2025. 
Hearing none, a motion was entertained. 

• Motion: To approve the minutes from the last meeting of May 28, 2025. 

• Moved by: Tom Bride 

• Seconded by: Corey Meister 

• Vote: All in favor said "Aye." One commissioner (Jeff Hanson) abstained due to absence from the previous meeting. 

• Action: The minutes of the previous meeting were approved. 
 

5. Items of Business 
a. Public Hearing and Action Item: Consideration of Nuclear Energy Facilities and Nuclear Waste Storage in the 
Woodbury County Zoning Ordinance (Action Item) 
 
The public hearing was opened with Dan Priestley explaining that this discussion was a continuation from previous months 
(dating back to August/September 2024) regarding the inclusion of nuclear energy facilities, nuclear waste storage, and 
related uses in the Woodbury County Zoning Ordinance. He highlighted the complexity of the issue, noting the heavy 
involvement of federal (Nuclear Regulatory Commission - NRC) and state regulations. 
 
Priestley explained that the existing Woodbury County Zoning Ordinance's land use summary table includes "electrical 
energy generation, not including wind," which could be interpreted to include nuclear facilities as a conditional use. However, 
the standard 500-foot public notification distance for conditional use permits was deemed insufficient for nuclear facilities. 
The current proposal extends this notification zone to 10 miles for any conditional use permit process related to nuclear 
energy or waste storage. This proposal utilizes the existing zoning ordinance infrastructure, requiring review by both the 
Zoning Commission and the Board of Adjustment. 



 

 

 
Priestley clarified that the Board of Supervisors initiated this process to receive a recommendation from the Zoning 
Commission, with the Supervisors ultimately having up to three public hearings on any final proposal. He noted that public 
input had been collected over several meetings, and while not as extensive as for wind or solar energy, both support and 
opposition comments had been received. 
 
Priestley presented a "Nuclear Energy Public Comments 2014-2025" document, summarizing past comments, and requested 
it be received into the public record. 

• Motion: To receive the "Nuclear Energy Public Comments 2014-2025" document into the public record. 

• Moved by: Tom Bride 

• Seconded by: Jeff Hanson 

• Vote: All in favor said "Aye." 

• Action: The document was received into the public record. 
 

Priestley then summarized key public comments: 

• Support: Mayor Bob Scott (Sioux City), Kyle Gates (Secondary Roads), Mayor Ken Bauer (Correctionville), and 
Craig Levine and Rick Plathe (Northwest Iowa Building and Construction Trade Council). 

• Opposition: Jerry Holder (concerns regarding waste risk and potential malfunctions), Janet Kruger (opposing 
nuclear activities, urging prohibition without public approval). 

• Other Comments: Wendy Hess (9/11 Dispatch Center readiness, staff training, emergency exercises, budget 
increases), Mark Nara (former County Engineer, regarding infrastructure impact and NRC alignment), Patty Riesberg 
(clarified NRC's regulatory role). Brian Bergeon from the NRC had also provided details on their independent 
regulatory and licensing process in a previous packet. 
 

Priestley reiterated that the local conditional use permit process allows for scrutiny and engagement with other levels of 
government, similar to telecommunication towers. He emphasized that the proposed ordinance amendment specifically 
defines "nuclear energy facilities" and "nuclear waste storage" and adds them to the land use summary table only in the 
general industrial zoning district. The 10-mile notification radius is a key added feature. 
 
The Chair then opened the floor for public comments on this item. 

• Public Comment: No one present in the room wished to comment. 

• Public Comment (via phone): Lynn Drees (phone) from Danbury stated, "no comment." No other callers wished to 
comment. 
 

The Chair then invited comments from the commissioners. 

• Dan Priestley clarified that this process is proactive, and no specific nuclear project has been proposed or 
approached staff/county. The purpose is to determine if it should be a permitted use in the ordinance. 

• Commissioner Tom Bride reiterated that the current ordinance covers electrical energy generation, but the proposed 
language provides more detail as recommended by the County Attorney's office. 

• Dan Priestley explained that the County Attorney felt the previous language wasn't specific enough and that clearer 
definitions would prevent interpretation issues if an application were submitted. He also stressed the importance of 
the 10-mile notification over the standard 500 feet to avoid potential problems. He noted that the costs of extensive 
notifications for a 10-mile radius would be passed on to the applicant, aligning with the county’s zoning fee schedule 
to prevent massive county expenses for wider-scale conditional uses. 

• Commissioner Jeff Hanson emphasized that defining nuclear energy clarifies the language and expands the 
notification distance, which are important considerations. 

• Dan Priestley reinforced that a conditional use permit is a "maybe" permit, not a "yes," allowing full scrutiny and 
public engagement in the process. He noted the difficulty of discussing hypotheticals without a specific project but 
stressed the importance of having a clear framework in the ordinance for potential future proposals. 
 

The Chair inquired about the next steps. Dan Priestley explained that the commission could close the public hearing and then 
make a recommendation to the Board of Supervisors or continue the discussion. If a recommendation is sent, the Board of 
Supervisors would then consider scheduling up to three public hearings, which often draw more public engagement. 

• Motion: To close the public hearing. 

• Moved by: Jeff Hanson 

• Seconded by: Corey Meister 

• Vote: All in favor said "Aye." 

• Action: The public hearing was closed. 
 



 

 

Commissioner Jeff Hanson commented that this was the 12th time the issue had been heard at various levels. 

• Motion: To recommend to the Board of Supervisors to move forward with the language as presented in draft pages 
11, 12, 13, and 14 of the packet, which specifically defines nuclear energy facilities and nuclear waste storage. 

• Moved by: Jeff Hanson 

• Seconded by: Steve Corey 
Discussion on the motion: 

• Supervisor Kent Carper asked if specific locations were picked out. Dan Priestley clarified that the proposed 
ordinance would only allow these uses in general industrial areas, typically south of the airport and west of 
Interstate 29, not in agricultural or residential zones. 

• Dan Priestley added that the Board of Supervisors has the prerogative to adjust the language during their three 
public hearings, as the Zoning Commission's output is a recommendation. 

• Commissioner Tom Bride clarified that the motion is not targeting new areas but is clarifying language, notification, 
and conditions for existing general industrial zones. He reiterated that the 10-mile notification is a significant 
improvement over 500 feet. 

• Dan Priestley further clarified that both nuclear energy facilities and nuclear waste storage would be distinct, 
classified as conditional uses, and subject to the 10-mile notification apparatus. 

• Vote: All in favor said "Aye." (Unanimous) 

• Action: The commission voted unanimously to recommend to the Board of Supervisors to move forward with the 
proposed language for nuclear energy facilities and nuclear waste storage in the Woodbury County Zoning 
Ordinance. 

 
b. Public Hearing and Action Item: Consideration of Zoning Ordinance Text Amendments for Accessory Dwelling 
Units to Comply with Iowa's Senate File 592 (Action Item) 
 
The public hearing was opened with Dan Priestley stating this was a housekeeping item to bring the county ordinance into 
compliance with Iowa Senate File 592. This state law, signed by Governor Kim Reynolds on May 1st, mandates that counties 
allow at least one accessory dwelling unit (ADU) on the same lot as a single-family residence, subject to specific conditions, 
and prohibits certain restrictive regulations. 
 
Priestley explained that the state standard sets a minimum threshold of 1,000 square feet or 50% of the size of the existing 
dwelling, whichever is greater. While the state code allows counties flexibility to permit larger ADUs, the current proposal 
strictly follows the state's minimums. He noted that other jurisdictions (counties and cities) would also be grappling with the 
implications of this new law, particularly concerning wells and septics. He mentioned that the 23-foot minimum dimension for 
a dwelling would still apply for building permits. 
 
Priestley stated that the staff's recommendation is to simply react to the state standard and keep the minimums, allowing for 
future re-evaluation if demand necessitates larger ADUs. He stressed that the county has a duty to make its ordinance 
compatible with state law. 
 
The Chair then opened the floor for public comments on this item. 

• Public Comment: No one present in the room wished to comment. 

• Public Comment (via phone): No one wished to comment. 
 
The Chair then invited comments from the commissioners. 

• Motion: To close the public hearing. 

• Moved by: Tom Bride 

• Seconded by: Jeff Hanson 

• Vote: All in favor said "Aye." 

• Action: The public hearing was closed. 
 
Commissioner Tom Bride commented that there is no alternative but to align with state code. He agreed with Dan Priestley 
that there is no immediate reason to allow larger structures beyond the state's minimums (1,000 sq ft or 50% of the existing 
dwelling). He viewed it as a housekeeping issue, with potential future reviews if needs arise. Other commissioners agreed. 

• Motion: To recommend to the Board of Supervisors the approval of the zoning ordinance text amendments for 
accessory dwelling units in compliance with Senate File 592, as outlined in the draft on pages 48 and 49 of the 
packet. 

• Moved by: Tom Bride 

• Seconded by: Corey Meister 

• Vote: All in favor said "Aye." (Unanimous) 



 

 

• Action: The commission voted unanimously to recommend to the Board of Supervisors the approval of the zoning 
ordinance text amendments for ADUs, aligning with Senate File 592. 

 
c. Review of a Conditional Use Permit Application: Kevin Heiss (Applicant) / Rent Properties, LLC (Owner) for an Off-
Premise LED Billboard (Action Item) 
 
Dan Priestley clarified that this was a review session, not a public hearing, which would take place at the Board of Adjustment 
meeting on July 7th at 5:00 p.m. The Zoning Commission's duty was to review the criteria, evaluate the application, and hear 
from the applicant and potentially the public. 
 
Kevin Heiss, representing Rent Properties LLC, submitted a conditional use permit application to construct and operate a 14-
foot by 48-foot LED billboard for off-premise advertising. The property is located in the north two-thirds of the north half of the 
northwest quarter, Section 6, Floyd Township, situated along the south side of Highway 20 and east of Charles Avenue, 
within the General Commercial zoning district. Off-premise advertising signs are classified as a conditional use in this district. 
 
Priestley noted that the property includes a floodplain, and the applicants are aware of the need for a floodplain development 
permit and building permit. He confirmed that initial data suggests the sign would not be in the floodway, which was a 
concern for the Iowa DNR. He reiterated that the county does not regulate content but evaluates the billboard itself, which is 
a two-sided, V-shaped LED billboard. The application addresses criteria such as appropriate zoning, compatibility with 
development plans, and potential adverse effects. 
 
The Chair invited the applicant to speak. 

• Kevin Heiss (Applicant): Stated the intent is for advertising, including for his own nearby businesses. They are 
working with SRA Group for construction and have ensured the operation will be well-maintained. He believes the 
location is suitable for a highly trafficked commercial area along Highway 20. Heiss confirmed they had consulted 
with Dan Priestley multiple times to ensure compliance with the process. 
 

Commissioners' questions for the applicant: 

• Distance to Residents: Kevin Heiss stated there are no residents within 1,000 feet, and nearby properties are 
commercial. Dan Priestley confirmed the presence of mixed districts in the area, with some residential properties 
further up the hill (Boatman’s and Amick’s on 162nd Street) that could be about 1,000 feet away. The ordinance 
specifically regulates distance from AE (Agricultural Estates) districts, where housing is expected, but not AP 
(Agricultural Preservation). 

• Lighting and Brightness: Heiss stated it's a 21-millimeter LED product, which is extremely bright during the day to 
overcome the sun but dims at night like a "television night mode." He confirmed the back side of the V-shaped sign 
would be black and not emit light towards residential areas. He emphasized they chose Daktronics, a reputable 
company, to ensure proper design and operation. 

• DOT Requirements: Heiss confirmed compliance with DOT requirements, which require 300 feet between signs, 
whereas Woodbury County's current ordinance requires 1,000 feet. This 1,000-foot county requirement makes 
placement challenging. Heiss and Priestley described a "chasing the result" scenario with DOT, where each wanted 
the other's approval first, but dialogue has been good. 

• Setbacks: Heiss confirmed the sign is set back significantly from Highway 20 and Charles Avenue, likely in the 
middle of his field, approximately 150 feet from the Charles Avenue right-of-way line. 

• Letter of Support: Dan Priestley presented a letter from Jerry and Vernell Steffan, neighbors at 1528 Jewel, stating 
they had "no issues with this request." He identified their property as directly abutting the applicant's property. 

o Motion: To receive the letter from Jerry and Vernell Stefan into the record. 
o Moved by: Tom Bride 
o Seconded by: Corey Meister 
o Vote: All in favor said "Aye." 
o Action: The letter was received into the record. 

 
Public Comment (via phone): Dana Neal (162nd Street): 

• Expressed concern that his home is within 1,000 feet of the proposed sign, despite measurements. His home is also 
45 feet higher than the road. He worried the sign, which will be 25-30 feet off the ground, would shine directly into his 
windows. 

• He stated he and his family built their home on their family farm for a country living experience, avoiding city 
nuisances like streetlights. He noted that he can see an existing billboard a mile away from his deck at night. 

• He feared the double-sided 14x48 billboard would significantly impact his home's value and privacy, similar to how 
LED lights light up a building on a hill nearby. 



 

 

• He asked if another location farther from homes could be considered. 
 

Response to Dana Neal's comments: 

• Kevin Heiss acknowledged the difficulty of finding locations due to the 1,000-foot separation requirement from other 
billboards, stating "we're in the middle of the rock." He emphasized the V-shape design focuses light on the road, 
with the back side being black to prevent light spill. 

• Commissioner Corey Meister asked if the entire 67-acre parcel belonged to Heiss, which he confirmed, except for 
where Hobart's is located. 

• Chair Chris Zellmer Zant noted a previous billboard existed near Steffan's property. Heiss confirmed it still exists and 
is in use, but their new sign cannot be placed there due to the 1,000-foot separation rule from other signs across the 
road. 

• Kevin Heiss reiterated that the sign's design is specifically angled to face east and westbound traffic on Highway 20, 
minimizing light towards other directions. He confirmed there would be no additional security lighting. 

• Dana Neal clarified his property location relative to the sign. He expressed concern about the entire "area lit up" at 
night. He requested to see the proposed sign in person and for the opinions of the Boatman’s and Amick’s (other 
residents on 162nd Street) to be considered. 

• Kevin Heiss agreed to have a conversation with Dana Neal to explore design adjustments to help mitigate concerns. 
He expressed a desire to work with the community. 

• Heiss explained that if a variance were granted to reduce the 1,000-foot separation from other signs, they could 
move the billboard closer to Highway 20. This would also benefit residents by lowering the sign and changing its 
angle relative to their homes. 
 

Discussion on a potential variance: 

• Commissioner Tom Bride asked if a variance could be requested to relocate the sign to a better position to minimize 
impact on residents. 

• Dan Priestley explained that while a variance is a possibility, recent changes to Iowa Code emphasize "practical 
difficulty" over "economic hardship." He cautioned against speculation on the Board of Adjustment's decision and 
stated staff generally avoid recommending variances due to their uncertain outcome. 

• Kevin Heiss stated their primary goal was approval of the current location and that they would consider a variance 
later if needed but wanted conceptual approval first due to cost. 

• Dan Priestley clarified that the Zoning Commission makes a recommendation, and the application will proceed to the 
Board of Adjustment regardless. He suggested a potential contingency for approval contingent on a variance, but 
again, stressed caution. 

• Priestley also asked if the LED signs could be timed to dim or shut off at certain hours (e.g., midnight to 5 AM) to 
mitigate light pollution. Heiss replied that most digital signs are on 24/7 due to advertising sales, and dimming is 
already built in for nighttime, but completely shutting off or further dimming would make them ineffective. 

• Commissioner Bride suggested that the applicant try to address the neighbors' concerns between now and the Board 
of Adjustment meeting on July 7th, perhaps by showing them existing similar signs or providing a visualization of the 
light impact. Heiss agreed to reach out to Dana Neal and share information. 

• Dan Priestley confirmed that letters were sent to properties within the 500-foot threshold (as per the certified abstract 
listing). 

• Heiss mentioned similar V-shaped LED signs at Hamilton and Casey's, by the Arena, and on I-29 near Outback, and 
at Third and Wesley Parkway as examples of what the proposed sign would look like. He also confirmed height 
restrictions are in place (not 35 feet, more like 18 feet off the ground). 
 

Final comments from commissioners before motion: 

• Commissioner Jeff Hanson stated he had no issue with the proposed location and thought other lit billboards in the 
area were more impactful. He would prefer the sign to be moved further north (closer to Highway 20) to protect future 
commercial development potential, as its current south placement pushes potential development further into 
residential areas. He agreed that moving it north would benefit adjacent landowners. 

• Kevin Heiss reiterated their desire to work with the community and do things "right." 

• Motion: To make a recommendation to the Board of Adjustment to consider the conditional use permit application for 
an off-premise billboard (14 ft x 48 ft), partially identified on the agenda, with a recommendation for approval. 

• Moved by: Jeff Hanson 

• Seconded by: Corey Meister 
 

Discussion on the motion: 

• Dan Priestley clarified that the recommendation was for approval. 



 

 

• Commissioner Tom Bride suggested that the letter reflecting the commission's recommendation for approval should 
also include a discussion point for the Board of Adjustment to consider the possibility of a variance to address 
neighbor concerns, and the discussion regarding the benefits of moving the sign closer to Highway 20. Dan Priestley 
confirmed the letter would reflect the recommendation, touch on themes/concerns, and direct the Board of 
Adjustment to the minutes. 

• Vote: All in favor said "Aye." (Unanimous) 

• Action: The commission voted unanimously to recommend approval of the conditional use permit application for the 
billboard to the Board of Adjustment, with concerns noted for their consideration regarding potential variances and 
optimal placement. This item will be continued at the Board of Adjustment meeting on July 7th at 5:00 p.m. 
 

Public Comment on Matters Not on the Agenda 
The Chair inquired if there were any public comments on matters not on the agenda. Seeing and hearing none, the meeting 
proceeded. 
 
Staff Update 
Dan Priestley provided the following updates: 
 

• Morningside University Conditional Use Permit Ballpark Proposal: The Board of Adjustment tabled this proposal 
at their last meeting for further consideration on July 7th. Public comments from the Zoning Commission and three 
property owners were reiterated at the Board of Adjustment, focusing on traffic, sound, and lighting issues. Jason 
Reynoldson, representing Morningside University, met with Priestley and the County Engineer to discuss traffic flow, 
including potential turning lanes and infrastructure improvements if traffic increases. They are awaiting information 
from Laura Sievers. Morningside University is expected to return on July 7th with further clarity on addressing these 
concerns. 
 

• Board of Supervisors Updates: 
o Borrow Pit: The Board of Supervisors will hold their second public hearing on the borrow pit on June 24th 

and the third and final one on July 1st. 
 

o New Cooperative Rezone: They will have their third and final reading on this rezone on June 24th 
 

Commissioners’ Comments or Inquiries 
The Chair asked if there were any comments or inquiries from the commissioners. Hearing none, the meeting moved to 
adjournment. 
 
Adjournment 

• Motion: To adjourn the meeting. 

• Moved by: Corey Meister 

• Seconded by: Jeff Hanson 

• Vote: All in favor said "Aye." 

• Action: The meeting was adjourned at 6:44 PM. 
 
APPENDIX – RECEIVED INTO THE RECORD 
Please see the content received into the record on the subsequent pages. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



 

 



 

 



 

 



 

 



 

 
 



 

 

 



WOODBURY COUNTY BOARD OF SUPERVISORS AGENDA ITEM(S) REQUEST FORM 

 

Date:    _________________     Weekly Agenda Date:     ______________                                                       

 

ELECTED OFFICIAL / DEPARTMENT HEAD / CITIZEN:       ____________________________________ 

WORDING FOR AGENDA ITEM:    
 

 

ACTION REQUIRED: 

Approve Ordinance    ☐                            Approve Resolution   ☐                       Approve Motion   ☐ 

Give Direction    ☐                                    Other:  Informational  ☐                       Attachments   ☐ 

 

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY:  

 

 
BACKGROUND: 

 

 

 

FINANCIAL IMPACT:   

 

 

IF THERE IS A CONTRACT INVOLVED IN THE AGENDA ITEM, HAS THE CONTRACT BEEN SUBMITTED AT LEAST ONE WEEK 

PRIOR AND ANSWERED WITH A REVIEW BY THE COUNTY ATTORNEY’S OFFICE? 

Yes     ☐            No       ☐ 

RECOMMENDATION:    

 

 

 

ACTION REQUIRED / PROPOSED MOTION:   

 

 

 

 

 

 
Approved by Board of Supervisors April 5, 2016.  

7/16/25 7/22/25

Tina Bertrand, County Treasurer

✔ ✔

✔

Information and discussion regarding ATV ordinance 

Changes to Iowa code 321I - All Terrain Vehicles changes warrants a review of the county ordinance.  

Iowa code 321I changed to expand ATV operation on public roads.  These changes impact the current Woodbury County 
Ordinance.  The current law does not specifically prohibit a county fee, however, HF 257 does and will likely pass in the 
next session.  Other sections of the ordinance should be reviewed for alignment with the changes to the code.     
 

If there is a change in ordinance or if the county attorney believes the current legislation is sufficient to eliminate the 
county's ability to charge a fee for a county ATV permit, the revenue impact is a loss of $6,500.  All other changes to 
the ordinance are a no cost impact. 

Update ordinance to align with Iowa code 321I.



How to Drive on Public Roads
• Do not exceed 35 MPH.
• Driver must be age 18 or older with a valid driver’s license.
• Do not drive while impaired or with open alcohol container.
• Headlight(s) must be on at all times.

What is Required for the Vehicle
• Proof of insurance.
•  Registered with Iowa DNR and 

sticker displayed on rear of vehicle.
•  Out-of-state vehicle must have an 

Iowa DNR nonresident user permit 
sticker.

•  Functioning required equipment, 
including but not limited to: horn, 
mirrors, headlight(s), tail lights, and 
brake lights.

•  Display slow-moving vehicle sign.

When and Where You Can Ride
•  Operation allowed day or night.
•  Roadway use allowed (except interstates and four-lane 

roads).
•  Use state two-lane or county highways only on the most 

direct, accessible route to: an ATV/UTV/ORV park or trail, 
the nearest county road, an authorized city street, or your 
residence.

•  Crossing multi-lane highways allowed only at intersections 
from authorized roads.

DRIVING YOUR ATV OR UTV/ORV  
ON IOWA PUBLIC ROADS AND STREETS

Know the Law. Ride Responsibly.

ATV  
(All-Terrain Vehicle)

Handlebars

1-2 riders  
straddle seat

3,4, or 6 wheels

UTV/ORV  
(Utility Task Vehicle) 
(Off-Road Utility Vehicle)

Steering wheel

2-6 riders sit 
inside bench or 
bucket seat

4 or 6 wheels 

ATV vs. UTV/ORV: Key Differences

Exemptions for Ag Use on 
Public Roads   
(Implements of Husbandry)

• No DNR registration required.
•  No license needed if within  

2 miles of farm. Class C license 
required if beyond 2 miles.

•  Operation allowed only between 
sunrise and sunset.

MM1585  05/13/2025

IOWA DEPARTMENT OF NATURAL RESOURCES

Slow-Moving 
Vehicle Sign

Reflective 
sign with 
an orange 

triangle and dark red 
border that must be 
displayed on rear 
of vehicle for ag or 
personal use.  
(Iowa Code 321.383)

ATVs/UTVs and Iowa Law 
ATVs/UTVs are regulated for use on roadways by 
Iowa code sections 321I and 321.234A. 
Always refer to the most current version of the 
Iowa Code for legal guidance. 

321I 321.234A

Prioritize Your Safety

Wear a helmet.

Use a safety harness, if available.

Drive sober.



I. Non-Ag Operation Requirements
 A. General Requirements:

•	 Driver’s License: Valid license required — (Iowa Code 321.234A(2))
•	 Insurance: Valid liability insurance — (321.234A(2))
•	 Minimum Age: 18 years old — (321.234A(2))
•	 Registration Decal: Shall be affixed on rear of vehicle — (IA Admin Code 571-46.7; 321.234A(4))
•	 Required Equipment: As specified in Iowa Code Chapter 321 — (321.234A(3))

 B. Lighting and Safety Equipment:
•	 Headlamp(s): Must be illuminated at all times — (321.384, 321.386)
•	 Horn: Required — (321.432)
•	 Mirror: Required — (321.437)
•	 Rear Lamp: Required — (321.387)
•	 Signal Lamps: Required — (321.404)
•	 Slow-Moving Vehicle Sign: Displayed on rear — (321.383(2))
•	 Windows: Frontside windows and windshield shall not be excessively dark — (321.438)

 C. Operational Guidelines:
•	 Direct Crossing: Allowed on highways not part of the interstate — (321.234A(f); 321I.10)
•	 Paved County Secondary Roads: Permitted if authorized by county or for direct access — (321.234A(f); 

321I.10(2–4))
•	 Road Use - State Highways: Only on undivided, two-lane roads for direct access — (321.234A(f); 321I.10(2–4))
•	 Road Use - City Streets: Permitted if authorized by city or for direct access — (321.234A(f); (321I.10(5))
•	 Road Use - Unpaved County Roads: Operation allowed — (321.234A(f); 321I.10(2–4))
•	 Speed Limit: Must not exceed 35 MPH — (321.234A(2))

II. Ag Operation Exemptions
 A. License Requirement Exemption:

•	 Not required if used for farm purposes — (321.176) 
(Note: Cannot operate if license is suspended, barred, or revoked.)

•	 2-mile limitation for ag operations — (IA Admin Code 761-605.3; 321.176)

 B. Operation Hours:
•	 Only between sunrise and sunset — (321.234A(1))

 C. Registration Exemption:
•	 Not required if used as an implement of husbandry — (321.234A)

 D. Speed Limit:
•	 Must not exceed 35 MPH — (321.234A(2))

IOWA CODE REFERENCES



 

 

WOODBURY COUNTY, IOWA  

ORDINANCE #_______ 

 

An Ordinance permitting the operation of All-Terrain Vehicles and Off-Road Utility Vehicles in Woodbury 
County, Iowa 
 
 WHEREAS, the Board of Supervisors has evaluated the traffic conditions on all County 
roadways/highways and has determined that all-terrain vehicles and off-road utility vehicles can be 
operated without unduly interfering with or constituting an undue hazard to conventional motor vehicle 
traffic, and; 
 
 WHEREAS, pursuant to Iowa Code section 321I.10, the County may permit operation of said 
vehicles on the roadways of the county, and; 
 
 WHEREAS, the operation of said vehicles would be regulated under Iowa Code Chapters 321I, 
321.20B, 321A.21, and other applicable provisions of the Iowa Code; 
 
 NOW, therefore be it resolved by the Board of Supervisors that the following regulations are 
hereby adopted regarding operation of all-terrain vehicles and off-road utility vehicles on county 
roadways within Woodbury County, Iowa: 
 
Section 1: Purpose 
To designate the county roadways upon which all-terrain vehicles and off-road utility vehicles may 
operate and to establish regulations regarding such operation. 
 
Section 2: Definitions 

1. All-Terrain Vehicle 321I.1(1)(a): means a motorized vehicle with not less than three and not 
more than six non-highway tires that is limited by engine displacement to less than one 
thousand cubic centimeters and in total dry weight to less than one thousand two hundred 
pounds and that has a seat or saddle designed to be straddled by the operator and handlebars 
for steering control. 

2. Off-Road Utility Vehicle 321I.1(17)(a): means a motorized vehicle with not less than four and not 
more than eight non-highway tires or rubberized tracks that has a seat that is of bucket or bench 
design not intended to be straddled by the operator and a steering wheel or control levers for 
control. Off-road utility vehicles include Type 1, Type 2 & Type 3 vehicles. 

3. Roadways 321I.1: means that portion of the highway improved, designed or ordinarily used for 
vehicular travel. Roadway does not include the ditch. 

 
Section 3: Operation on Roadways 
A vehicle properly registered with the Iowa DNR, pursuant to Iowa Code section 321I.3, and with proper 
Woodbury County identification, pursuant to Section 5 of this ordinance, may be operated on any 
roadway in Woodbury County, Iowa pursuant to the restrictions in this ordinance and those restrictions 
imposed by Iowa Code.  All-Terrain Vehicles and Off-Road Vehicles shall not be operated on dirt or earth 
surface roads or other Class B roads when wet conditions exist that would cause damage to the roadway 
or would cause the vehicle to get stuck.  They are prohibited from Class C Roads.  Operation under this 

Enough changes in this section warrants a review of our ordinance



ordinance is only permitted on the county roadways lying outside the city limits of any incorporated city 
which does not have an ordinance or other regulation in effect allowing such operation. Operation is not 
permitted at any time on Interstate 29 and state highways.   

Section 4: Unlawful Operation 
A person shall not operate an All-Terrain Vehicle or Off-Road Utility Vehicle on county roadways under 
any of the following conditions: 

1. At a rate of speed greater than the posted speed limit.
2. In a careless, reckless or negligent manner.
3. Without a lighted headlight or taillight.
4. In any tree nursery or planting in a manner which damages or destroys growing stock.
5. On private or public land prohibiting such operation.
6. In any park, wildlife area, preserve, refuge or game management area.
7. Any portion of a meandered stream or the bed of a non-meandered stream which has been

identified as a navigable stream or river by the Iowa DNR and which is covered by water.  Does
not apply to designated riding areas and designated riding trails.

8. Upon an operating railroad right-of-way.  May be driven directly across a railroad right-of-way
only at established crossings.

9. With more persons on the vehicle than it was designed to carry.
10. While under the influence of intoxicating liquor or narcotics or drugs.
11. Without a valid driver’s license and proof of insurance.
12. Under the age of 18.

Section 5: Identification Requirements 
Individuals who operate an All-Terrain Vehicle or Off-Road Utility Vehicle on the roadways of the county 
must obtain an identification sticker from the office of Woodbury County Treasurer. The following 
conditions apply: 

1. For each vehicle, the owner must provide proof of ownership, current registration with the Iowa
DNR and proof of liability insurance.

2. Pay an annual registration fee in the amount of $25.00.
3. Stickers must be affixed to the right-rear portion of the vehicle such that it is clearly visible.
4. Stickers are non-transferable.
5. Out of state vehicles are also required to be registered with Iowa DNR.

Section 6: Exempt Vehicles and Operators   
This ordinance does not apply to any vehicles operated pursuant to Iowa Code section 321I.9 
(government and farm implements) or Iowa Code section 321.234A (agricultural purposes, government, 
public utilities, licensed engineers and licensed surveyors). 

Section 7: Penalties 
Violation of this ordinance shall constitute a simple misdemeanor punishable by a minimum fine of 
$65.00 and a maximum fine of $625.00, plus applicable surcharges and court costs. 

Section 8: Effective Date 
This ordinance shall be in effect from and after its final passage, approval and publication as provided by 
law. 

Passed and approved this _____ day of __  ____, 2019. 

Changed by 321I.10.3?



 

 

        
Woodbury County Board of Supervisors 
 
 

Keith Radig, Chairman  
 

ATTEST: 
 
_______________________________ 
Patrick Gill, Woodbury County Auditor 
 
 
First Reading:     _______________ 
Second Reading:   _______________ 
Approved:              _______________ 
Published:     _______________ 
 



WOODBURY COUNTY BOARD OF SUPERVISORS AGENDA ITEM(S) REQUEST FORM 

Date:    _________________         Weekly Agenda Date:     ______________ 

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY: 

BACKGROUND: 

ELECTED OFFICIAL / DEPARTMENT HEAD / CITIZEN:       ____________________________________ 

WORDING FOR AGENDA ITEM:    

ACTION REQUIRED:

   Approve Resolution         Approve Motion   Approve Ordinance

Public Hearing                Other:  Informational      Attachments    

2025-07-16 2025-07-22

Ryan M Weber

Seeking approval for renewal State of Nebraska contract to house youth in the Woodbury Juvenile Detention Center.

The detention center has housed Nebraska youth for many years and we wish to continue to do so.

Approve contract with State of Nebraska

✔



FINANCIAL IMPACT:   

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

IF THERE IS A CONTRACT INVOLVED IN THE AGENDA ITEM, HAS THE CONTRACT BEEN SUBMITTED AT LEAST ONE WEEK 
PRIOR AND ANSWERED WITH A REVIEW BY THE COUNTY ATTORNEY’S OFFICE? 

Yes     ☐            No       ☐ 

RECOMMENDATION:    

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

ACTION REQUIRED / PROPOSED MOTION:   
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Approved by Board of Supervisors April 5, 2016.  

✔

$204 a day per youth

Approve and sign renewal.



DETENTION SERVICES AGREEMENT (93679-O4) 
AMENDMENT FOUR   

THIS AMENDMENT including all attachments and addenda is entered into by and between the 
Administrative Office of the Courts & Probation (hereinafter “AOCP”) and Woodbury County Juvenile 
Detention Center (hereinafter “Contractor”) 

PURPOSE: The purpose of this Amendment is to ensure the continued provision of detention services at 
a juvenile detention facility, as defined by Neb Rev. Stat. § 83-4,125, for juveniles who are post-
adjudicated for purposes of Neb. Rev. Stat. § 43-290.01 or who are under the supervision of AOCP 
(hereinafter “Juvenile(s)”). 
 
NOW, THEREFORE, the Parties mutually agree to amend the Agreement as follows: 
 
A. ARTICLE A. TERM & TERMINATION, Section 1 is hereby amended to read: 

1. TERM OF CONTRACT.  The Parties agree to further amend this contract, originally executed 
on August 8, 2017, to now add one (1) additional year, extending the end date until June 30, 2026.  
 

All other terms and conditions remain in full force and effect. 
 
IN WITNESS THEREOF, the parties have duly executed this Amendment hereto, and each party 
acknowledges the receipt of a duly executed copy of this Amendment. 
 
Administrative Office of the Courts   Woodbury County  
& Probation        

 
 
 
 

Kari Rumbaugh      Ryan M. Weber 
Deputy Probation Administrator    Director 
 
Date:       Date: 
 
 
 
        
Gene Cotter      Daniel Bittinger II, Chairperson 
State Probation Administrator                                        Woodbury County Board of Supervisors  
  
 
Date:       Date: 
 

 
 
 
 
APPROVED AS TO FORM 
 
      
County Attorney                                         
 
Date:  


